

Best Practice Manual for the Microscopic Examination and Comparison of Human and Animal Hair

ENFSI-BPM-THG-03

Version 01 - November 2015



Background

This Best Practice Manual (BPM) belongs to a series of 10 BPMs issued by the European Network of Forensic Science Institutes (ENFSI) in November 2015. The series covers the following forensic disciplines:

- 1. Forensic Examination of Digital Technology
- 2. Forensic Examination of Handwriting
- 3. Chemographic Methods in Gunshot Residue Analysis
- 4. Road Accident Reconstruction
- 5. Microscopic Examination and Comparison of Human and Animal Hair
- 6. Fingerprint Examination
- 7. DNA Pattern Recognition and Comparison
- 8. Application of Molecular Methods for the Forensic Examination of Non-Human Biological Traces
- 9. Forensic Recovery, Identification and Analysis of Explosives Traces
- 10. Forensic Investigation of Fire Scenes which have resulted in Fatalities*
- 11. Forensic Investigation of Fire Scenes which involve the Clandestine Manufacture of Improvised or Homemade Explosive Devices*
- 12. Forensic Investigation of Fire Scenes which Involve the Clandestine Manufacture of Illicit Synthetic Drugs*
- * The three specific areas on Forensic Investigation of Fire Scenes (numbers 10 -12) were combined into one BPM 'Investigation of Fire Scenes'.

In the years 2014 and 2015, so-called Activity Teams have - in parallel - developed the 10 BPMs. The activities were performed within the project 'Towards European Forensic Standardisation through Best Practice Manuals (TEFSBPM)' and co-ordinated by the ENFSI Quality and Competence Committee. The realisation of the BPMs was supported by the Prevention of and Fight against Crime Programme of the European Commission – Directorate General Home Affairs (code: PROJECT HOME/2012/ISEC/MO/4000004278). The core project concept was that the BPMs will enhance the quality of the forensic services available to law enforcement and justice across Europe and thereby encourage forensic standardisation and cross-border cooperation between countries.

ENFSI expects that the issuing of this series will stimulate the improvement of already existing BPMs as well as the creation of new BPMs on disciplines that are not covered yet.

Acknowledgements

Chris Gannicliffe (Scottish Police Authority Forensic Services - UK), Jan Grunwald (Bayerisches Landeskriminalamt, Kriminaltechnisches Institut - Germany), Pamela Bauer (Cellmark Forensic Services - UK), Luc Bourguignon (Institut National de Criminalistique et Criminologie - Belgium), Sofie Vanpoucke (Nationaal Instituut voor Criminalistiek en Criminologie - Belgium), Philomeen de Vreede (Nederlands Forensisch Instituut - Nederland) and Peter Lamb (formerly Forensic Science Service - UK) are thanked for their contributions to the realisation of this BPM. The authors would like to gratefully acknowledge SWGMAT and the ETHG (the former EFG) for allowing us to use their documents as a basis for this Best Practice Manual.

Official language

The text may be translated into other languages as required. The English language version remains the definitive version.

Copyright

The copyright of this text is held by ENFSI. The text may not be copied for resale.

Further information

For further information about this publication, contact the ENFSI Secretariat. Please check the website of ENFSI (www.enfsi.eu) for update information.

Best Practice Manual for the Microscopic Examination and Comparison of Human and Animal Hair

CONTENTS

1.	AIMS	
2	SCOPE	
3.	DEFINITIONS AND TERMS	4
4.	RESOURCES	
4.1	Personnel	
4.2	<u>Equipment</u>	8
4.3	Reference materials	
4.4	Accommodation and environmental conditions	
4.5	Materials and reagents	
5.	METHODS	
5.1	Examination Techniques	
5.2	Hair Characteristics and Identification	12
5.3	Microscopy and DNA Analysis of Human and Animal Hairs	17
5.4	Other Analytical Techniques	17
5.5	Peer Review	17
6.	VALIDATION AND ESTIMATION OF UNCERTAINTY OF MEASUREMENT	18
6.1	<u>Validation</u>	18
6.2	Estimation of Uncertainty of Measurement	18
7.	PROFICIENCY TESTING	19
8.	HANDLING ITEMS	20
8.1	At the Crime Scene	20
8.2	In the Laboratory	23
9.	INITIAL ASSESSMENT	
10.	PRIORITISATION AND SEQUENCE OF EXAMINATIONS	26
11.	RECONSTRUCTION OF EVENTS	26
12.	EVALUATION AND INTERPRETATION	
12.1	Hair Identification	27
12.2	Hair Comparison	27
12.3	Cognitive Bias	28
12.4	The Significance of Transfer and Persistence	29
13.	PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE	29
13.1	Presentation of Written Evidence	29
13.2	Presentation of Oral Evidence	
14.	HEALTH AND SAFETY	30
14.1	At the Crime Scene	30
14.2	In the Laboratory	30
14.3	At Court	
14.4	Other	31
15.	REFERENCES	
16.	AMENDMENTS AGAINST PREVIOUS VERSION	32
ADDE	NDIX - RIRI IOGRAPHY FOR HAIR PRACTITIONERS	33



1 AIMS

This Best Practice Manual (BPM) aims to provide a framework for procedures, quality principles, training processes and approaches to the forensic microscopic examination of human and animal hairs. This BPM can be used by Member Laboratories of ENFSI and other Forensic Science Laboratories to establish and maintain working practices in the field of microscopic examination and comparison of human and animal hair that will deliver reliable results, maximize the quality of the information obtained and produce robust evidence. The use of consistent methodology and the production of more comparable results will facilitate interchange of data between laboratories.

The term BPM is used to reflect the scientifically accepted practices at the time of creating this document.

The term BPM does not imply that the practices laid out in this manual are the only good practices used in the forensic examination of hairs. In this series of ENFSI Practice Manuals the term BPM has been maintained for reasons of continuity and recognition.

2 SCOPE

This document provides guidelines for the entire forensic process of human and animal hair examination, including recovery at scenes of crime or in the laboratory, laboratory examination (comprising identification, comparison and analysis), evidential evaluation and interpretation and presentation of evidence.

This BPM is intended for experts in the field, and assumes prior knowledge in this discipline. It is not a standard operating procedure, and addresses the requirements of the judicial systems in general terms only.

This document also encompasses the requirements for systems, procedures, personnel, equipment and accommodation for the forensic process of hair examination.

3 DEFINITIONS AND TERMS

For the purposes of this BPM the relevant terms and definitions given these documents apply: ILAC G19 "*Modules in a Forensic Science Process*" [1] and standards such as ISO 9000 [2], ISO 17000 [3], ISO 17020 [4], ISO 17025 [5], and the relevant ENFSI documents.

The following terms are defined here to aid use of this BPM and are defined solely by how they are used in forensic hair examinations.

Anagen: The active growth phase of a hair follicle.

Ancestry (sometimes referred to as ethnic/racial origin): A term used to describe the appearance of hairs from people of differing ethnic or racial descent, generally grouped into three broad categories: European, African and Asian/Native American. The terms 'Caucasian', 'Negroid' and 'Mongoloid' may still be seen in older texts but are no longer in general use.

<u>Bleaching</u>: A chemical or a natural process used to make a hair colourless or lighter than its usual colour.



<u>Buckling:</u> An abrupt change in the shape and orientation of a hair shaft; often seen in pubic hairs.

Catagen: The transitional growth phase of the hair follicle.-

Characteristic: A feature or attribute of a hair.

<u>Cortex:</u> The anatomical region of a hair between the cuticle and the medulla.

Cortical Fusi: Small spaces in the hair cortex; they can be filled with air or liquid.

<u>Cortical structure:</u> The appearance of the cortical cells.

<u>Cuticle</u>: the outermost region of a hair composed of layers of overlapping scales.

<u>Distal</u>: The part of a hair remote from the point of attachment.

Dye: A chemical used to artificially colour hair.

Eumelanin: The dark brown to black pigment, naturally occurring in hair.

<u>Follicle:</u> The cavity in the skin from which hair grows.

Follicular Tag: Residual tissue from a hair follicle attached to the root.

Fusiform: Spindle-shaped (eg. cortical cells).

<u>Hair Growth Cycle:</u> The repeated growth (anagen), transition (catagen), and resting (telogen) phases of the hair follicle.

Keratin: The key structural protein of hair.

Macroscopic: Characteristics large enough to be perceived without magnification.

Medial: The area between the proximal and distal.

Medulla: The core of the hair shaft that is composed of air vacuoles and cells.

<u>Melanin</u>: A natural pigment of which two forms, eumelanin and phaeomelanin, determine the colour of hair.

<u>Microscopic:</u> Characteristics requiring magnification to be perceived (refer to section 4.2 for types of microscopes used in the routine examination of hairs).

Ocular Micrometer: Also referred to as an eyepiece graticule. This usually takes the form of a small clear disc on which is etched a linear scale marked in divisions of at least 0.1mm, inserted into the ocular lens.

Ovoid Bodies: Oval-shaped, heavily pigmented bodies that may be found in the hair cortex.



<u>Peripheral Region:</u> This is the portion of the hair that includes the cuticle, and the outer areas of the cortex most distant from the medullary or central region.

Phaeomelanin: The reddish-yellow pigment naturally occurring in hair.

<u>Pigment Density:</u> The relative concentration of pigment granules in the hair cortex when viewed microscopically.

<u>Pigment Distribution</u>: The spatial arrangement of the pigment granules in the hair shaft (such as uniform, peripheral, one-sided, variable or central).

Pigment Granules: Small particles that impart colour within the cortex of the hair.

<u>Post-mortem Banding:</u> An opaque microscopic band that can be observed near the root area of hairs from a decomposing body.

<u>Practitioner:</u> For the purposes of this BPM this term is used for any trained and competent individual undertaking any stage of human and animal hair examination, including recovery and examination, evidential evaluation and interpretation and presentation of evidence.

Proximal: The part of a hair close to the point of attachment.

Questioned Sample: Hairs of an unknown origin.

<u>Reference Sample:</u> A sample of hair representative of the range of colour and structure of a specific donor (for more information refer to section 8.1.3).

Root: The area of attachment of the hair to the follicle.

Root Sheath: The follicular tissue surrounding a root structure.

<u>Shaft:</u> The portion of the hair distal to the hair root (note that in some literature the shaft is defined as that portion of the hair external to the hair follicle).

Somatic Region / Origin: The area of the body from which a hair originates.

<u>Telogen</u>: The final phase of the hair growth cycle.

4 RESOURCES

4.1 Personnel

For the purposes of this BPM the term 'practitioner' is used for any trained and competent individual undertaking any stage of human and animal hair examination, including recovery and examination, evidential evaluation and interpretation and presentation of evidence.

Practitioner competence should be regularly assessed by proficiency tests and/or collaborative exercises. Organisations should maintain a record of the education and job-specific training, assessment and ongoing competency of their practitioners.



4.1.1 Recovery and Reference Sampling

For those practitioners recovering hairs at crime scenes and from items in the laboratory, and practitioners taking reference samples from individuals/animals, the following skills are necessary:

- · Familiarity with relevant health and safety issues
- · Awareness of contamination risks
- Awareness of other trace materials
- Familiarity with the requirements of the examining laboratory (eg. method of recovery, packaging, documentation)

4.1.2 Sample Preparation

For those practitioners preparing samples in the laboratory for further testing (eg. mounting, DNA-preparation, DAPI-dyeing) the following skills are necessary:

- · Familiarity with relevant health and safety issues
- · Awareness of contamination risks
- · Awareness of other trace materials
- · Familiarity with the relevant laboratory protocols

4.1.3 Examination and Microscopy

For those practitioners examining hair samples in the laboratory the following skills are necessary:

- · Familiarity with relevant health and safety issues
- Awareness of contamination risks
- Awareness of other trace materials
- · Competence in operating relevant instruments and equipment
- Knowledge of hair morphology
- Knowledge of hair examination protocols
- Competence in hair examination and comparison
- · Familiarity with the relevant literature

4.1.4 Evaluation, Interpretation and Reporting

For those practitioners evaluating, interpreting and reporting the results of hair examinations the following skills are necessary:

- Competence in assessing case requirements, devising and directing examination strategies and evaluating examination outcomes.
- Competence in hair examination and comparison
- · Understanding of the relevance of other trace materials
- · Knowledge of contamination risks
- · Knowledge of methodology and relevant instruments and equipment
- · Knowledge of hair morphology
- Knowledge of hair examination protocols
- Knowledge of the relevant literature
- Competence in preparing and presenting evidence (written or verbal) for the relevant jurisdiction

4.1.5 Undertaking peer review (Refer to Section 5.5, Peer Review)

Practitioners who perform peer reviews need the skills relevant to the area under review, together with a level of knowledge or a period of experience, specified by the organisation.



Note: This BPM has been written primarily from the viewpoint of forensic laboratory personnel, but it is accepted that in some countries other individuals, including Police Officers, Crime Scene Technicians, Medico-legal Experts, and Medical Examiners, may play a role in recovery and examination of hairs.

4.2 Equipment

The key pieces of equipment used in hair examinations are microscopes. Several types of light microscopes are used including low power stereomicroscopes (incident / reflected light and transmitted light), and high magnification transmitted light, polarised light and comparison microscopes. In some situations, the fluorescence microscope and the scanning electron microscope (SEM) may also provide additional information. The nature and extent of the hair examinations required will dictate which type of microscope is used.

Stereomicroscope: A low power stereomicroscope (incident and/or transmitted light) with a range of magnifications is useful for the examination of macroscopic (gross) characteristics of both mounted and unmounted hairs. The objectives and eyepieces should permit observations in the range of approximately 10X to 100X magnification.

Transmitted Light Microscope: A transmitted light microscope is required to examine and identify the microscopical characteristics of hairs. The objectives and eyepieces should permit observations in the range of approximately 40X to 400X magnification.

Polarising Light Microscope: A polarising light microscope is required if optical characteristics need to be determined or measured, particularly in the case of artificial hairs. This type of microscope may also enhance the hair examiner's ability to visualize certain morphological characteristics and chemical treatments and to determine the cross-sectional shapes of the hairs.

Fluorescence Microscope: A fluorescence microscope is required for DAPI examination and may be useful when examining dyed and artificial hairs.

Comparison Microscope: The use of a high quality transmitted light comparison microscope is useful when comparing the microscopical characteristics of hairs. Examinations using this type of microscope have the advantage that both the questioned and reference samples are viewed under similar optical conditions, and the questioned samples can be easily compared with a wide range of hairs from the reference material. The objectives and eyepieces selected should permit observations in the range of approximately 40X to 400X magnification.

Scanning Electron Microscope: Scanning electron microscopy can be useful to assess surface detail such as scale pattern and for damage to hairs.

4.2.1 Microscope Maintenance and Performance Check

4.2.1.1 Maintenance

An equipment inventory should be maintained which records the manufacturer, model, serial number, the date of acquisition, the date placed in service and the location for each piece of equipment used in the examination and comparison of hairs.

The practitioner should be familiar with and follow the manufacturer's operating manual and maintenance recommendations for each piece of equipment used for the examination. These should be readily available, together with any repair and/or general maintenance documents.



4.2.1.2 Performance and Calibration Checks

Microscopes must be correctly set up as detailed in the manufacturer's instructions, and all users must be fully trained in their operation.

Light microscopes should be set for Köhler illumination before beginning work.

It is recommended that the performance of the microscope be checked against appropriate working standards every time it is used.

Only equipment that is operating properly should be employed in casework, and then only within the limits of its performance check.

Calibration of the Ocular Micrometer / Eyepiece Graticule: Any microscope used to precisely measure dimensions requires a calibrated ocular micrometer / eyepiece graticule for the ocular lens.

This 'working standard' ocular micrometer must be calibrated at regular intervals against a *certified* standard, generally comprising a stage micrometer (refer to section 4.3.2). It is recommended that this calibration is carried out at least annually.

Optical balance check (eg. colour and magnification): If a comparison microscope is used for microscopical hair comparisons, a paired set of reference slides must be used to ensure that the colour is uniformly balanced between the left and right fields of view. If the colour is balanced, the sample images and the background colour on both sides of the microscope should appear to be the same. The magnification should be checked to ensure that the left and right images are magnified to the same degree.

4.3 Reference Materials

4.3.1 Human and Animal Reference Hair Collections

Laboratories may hold reference collections of exemplar hairs from known human sources (for example, an assortment of hairs of varied ancestry and somatic origin, growth phases, etc.) and of known animal species and breeds to assist in hair identifications.

Where possible, hair collections should be authenticated and traceable. The provenance of the hair samples in such authenticated collections should be readily demonstrable. It is advisable that the laboratory puts into place appropriate control measures to ensure that the integrity of any authenticated samples is maintained.

It is recognised that many laboratory hair collections are not authenticated or traceable. Such collections should be used with caution and referred to for guidance and indication purposes only.

4.3.2 Calibration and Working Standards (Refer to 4.2.1.2)

Paired sets of reference slides: paired slides typically consist of a uniformly coloured sample of hairs (or fibres) cut in half and mounted on slides.

Stage micrometer: A slide with a linear scale of known dimensional divisions, against which the 'working standard' ocular micrometer / eyepiece graticule can be compared.



4.4 Accommodation and Environmental Conditions

Laboratories for the examination of items for hairs and for carrying out detailed hair examinations should be designed for efficient and effective working. Particular consideration should be given to the need for avoidance of contamination.

To minimise the chance of contamination, some consideration should be given to the following:

- Laboratories, equipment and sampling materials used for the examination and comparison of hairs should be cleaned thoroughly before and after use.
- Laboratories should provide adequate space for searching items. They should also allow for the physical separation of search areas to permit the processing of items from different suspects, victims and the scene.
- In situations where evidence types other than hair may be of potential significance the laboratories should provide accommodation to allow for the effective recovery of the different evidence types.

4.5 <u>Materials and Reagents</u>

All materials and chemicals used for the examination and comparison of human and animal hair should be of a suitable quality and demonstrated to be fit for purpose.

All chemicals and reagents, whether manufactured internally or obtained from external suppliers, should be labelled with their identity, concentration (if appropriate), date of preparation or receipt, date of opening, date of expiry and any special storage or safety requirements, if applicable, to comply with laboratory policy and/or appropriate regulations. The identity of the individual preparing reagents produced in the laboratory should also be recorded together with records of the preparation procedures.

Materials used in recovery and/or examination of human and animal hairs can include the following:

- forceps (preferable smooth, non-serrated tips)
- adhesive tape and backing
- packaging for guestioned hairs
- · glass microscope slides and cover slips
- · mounting media and solvents
- ruler/measure marked in mm increments (this need not be calibrated as measurements are rarely critical).

Many suitable mounting media are available for preparing temporary and permanent hair mounts, and the selection of an appropriate mounting medium will be influenced by the particular microscope technique used. To examine the hairs in transmitted light, a colourless, non-yellowing mounting medium with a refractive index in the range of 1.50 to 1.60 should be used [6].

The analysis of surface particulates and biological material, compatibility with DNA analysis, and ease of artefact isolation should also be considered when selecting a mounting medium.

Additional equipment, materials and reagents will be required for specialist examination techniques, for example DAPI, alkaline hydrolysis, sectioning or scale casts (refer to section 5.1.4).



5 METHODS

Before any examinations are carried out, a case examination strategy should be defined as described in Section 9. Initial Assessment.

5.1 Examination Techniques

A hair examination is generally required to determine if an item of interest is:

- A hair
- · From a human or another animal of a given species
- · From certain body areas
- · Characteristic of a certain ancestry
- · Characteristic of a particular growth phase
- Damaged
- Diseased
- · Associated with other trace evidence
- · Chemically altered, such as dyed or bleached
- · Suitable for microscopical comparison
- · Suitable for nuclear DNA analysis
- · Similar to a reference hair sample from a particular person or individual animal

5.1.1 Macroscopic and Low Power Stereomicroscopic Examination

Macroscopic and low power stereomicroscopic examinations are useful for determining whether a questioned item is a hair or other fibrous material and for observing hair characteristics, such as colour, length, shape, and texture.

This is an important step in identifying hairs, assessing which are suitable for comparison, determining the presence of other trace materials, and evaluating which hairs have roots suitable for nuclear DNA analysis.

Macroscopic and low power microscopic examination can also be used to identify or assist in the recovery of any adhering material on the surface of the hair, eg. biological material that may require recovery before further hair examination.

5.1.2 Transmitted Light Microscopy

The internal microscopic characteristics of hair can be observed easily in transmitted light when the hairs are appropriately mounted. Such an examination will determine whether the hair is human or animal, the somatic origin, ancestry, damage, and suitability for comparison.

One hair or multiple hairs from the same source may be mounted on a glass microscope slide with an appropriate cover slip. Each mounted hair must be clearly visible and distinguishable. Each slide must be uniquely labelled. Questioned and reference hairs should be mounted in the same type of mounting medium.

5.1.3 Hair Comparison

Hair comparisons should be made between questioned and reference hairs of the same somatic origin. This is usually carried out by high power microscopy, typically on a comparison microscope, however, the use of the unaided eye or a stereomicroscope may be sufficient for elimination purposes in some cases when the differences are obvious.



An adequate number of hairs that represent the range of characteristics present in the sample are selected for comparison with the questioned hair. The selection should be primarily based on macroscopic and low power microscopic characteristics, such as length, shape, and colour. The examination should comprise high power comparison of characteristics seen in the reference and questioned hairs (see Table 1, page 14). Documentation should record the characteristics seen in the questioned hair and establish whether these characteristics fall within the range observed in the reference sample.

The appearance of particular hair characteristics is usually not constant along successive portions from root to tip of a single hair, and therefore hair characteristics should be compared in corresponding areas along the length of the hairs.

Based on the outcome of the above examinations, the practitioner will evaluate the findings (refer to Section 12, Evaluation and Interpretation).

5.1.4 Other Techniques and Methods

In addition to the above methods, the following techniques can be used in the examination of hairs:

- DAPI-staining (4',6-diamidine-2-phenylindol): A fluorochrome staining treatment used for the microscopical visualisation and quantification of DNA eq. in hair roots
- Scale casts: A technique used to microscopically visualise the cuticle scale pattern
- Longitudinal and transverse sectioning: A technique used to microscopically visualise the structure of the medulla
- Alkaline hydrolysis: A destructive technique involving chemical dissolution of a hair to microscopically visualise the medullary structure of animal hairs
- Medullary fraction analysis: A microscopical technique used to distinguish between cat and dog hairs (often referred to as the medullary ratio)
- Scanning electron microscopy: A microscope / technique used to visualise surface detail such as scale pattern, and damage to hairs

5.2 <u>Hair Characteristics and Identification</u>

Human hair can be distinguished from other animal hair by examining characteristics such as scale pattern, medulla, root, colour, hair length, and shaft profile/form.

5.2.1 Human Hair

5.2.1.1 Somatic Origin

Hairs of different somatic origin may include scalp, pubic, facial, limb and body, and eyebrow and eyelash hairs, although there may be considerable overlap in appearance between these areas. Somatic origin of human hair may be established by considering characteristics such as length, cross-sectional shape, shaft profile and texture.

5.2.1.2 Ancestry

Characteristics such as colour, shaft profile, cross-sectional shape, pigment distribution, hair diameter and cuticle may be used to classify a hair as having characteristics typical of particular ancestry, such as European, African and Asian/Native American.

The practitioner should be alert to the possibility of mixed ancestral characteristics and atypical characteristics. Opinions about the ancestral origin of a hair should be formulated with caution.



5.2.1.3 Human Hair - Characteristics

For guidance purposes, Table 1 (see page 14) provides a list of characteristics that may be used for identification and comparison of human hairs. *The characteristics listed in this table are examples only; they are neither exhaustive nor prescriptive.*

It is recommended that all observations are documented on a standard hair examination form with the characteristics selected from a range of discrete options to ensure consistency within the laboratory.

5.2.2 Animal Hair

5.2.2.1 Species Identification

Characteristics, such as colour, shaft profile, cross-sectional shape, medulla characteristics, root form and cuticle may be used to classify the species of origin.

5.2.2.2 Types of Animal Hair

The coat of an animal consists of different types of hairs; guard hairs (coarse) and fur hairs (fine). These can be further classified as follows:

- · Vibrissae: Large and stiff hairs, mostly with sensory function.
- · Bristle hairs: Stout and rigid hairs of uniform diameter along their length
- · Over hairs: Longer than the bulk of the fur coat, mostly with circular cross-section.
- Guard Hairs: Coarser hairs of the main fur coat, often with a shield in the distal part.
 Different types of guard hair can be differentiated, for example, primary or secondary guard hairs.
- Under hairs (fur hairs): Shorter and finer hairs of the pelage, usually not forming a shield.

Fur hairs do not exhibit sufficient characteristics to reliably identify the species of origin, and therefore the guard hairs are most useful when identifying the species of origin.

5.2.2.3 Animal Hair - Characteristics

For guidance purposes, Table 2 (see page 15) provides a list of characteristics that may be used for identification and comparison of animal hairs. *The characteristics listed in this table are examples only; they are neither exhaustive nor prescriptive.*

It is recommended that all observations are documented on a standard hair examination form with the characteristics selected from a range of discrete options to ensure consistency within the laboratory.



Table 1: Examples of Characteristics Used For Identification & Comparison of Human Hairs

FEATURE		Stereomicroscopy (Incident Light)	Transmitted Light Microscopy
	Colour - Described using colour chart, text, etc.	White, Blonde, Red, Brown, Black, etc.	Colourless (white), Blonde, Red, Brown, Black, etc.
	Cosmetic Treatment	Dye lines	Dyes, Styling products, Bleaches, Lighteners
tics	Shaft Form		Straight, Arced, Wavy, Curly, Twisted, Tightly coiled, Crimped
teris	Shaft Length (in mm / cm)		
harac	Shaft Thickness / Shaft Diameter	Fine, Medium, Coarse	Measured in µm
ralC	Shaft Cross-section	Round, Oval, Triangular, Flattened	Round, Oval, Triangular, Flattened
General Characteristics	Shaft Form	T Iditoriou	Buckling, Convoluting, Shouldering, Undulating, Splitting, Regular
	Proximal End	Root presence / absence and Appearance	Root presence / absence and Appearance
	Distal End	Tip Appearance - Natural, Cut, Abraded	Tip appearance - Natural, Cut, Abraded, etc.
	Cuticle		Presence, Thickness, Margin features, Pigment
	Cortex Texture		Coarse, Medium, Fine
	Other Cortical Features		Ovoid bodies, Cortical fusi
	Pigmentation (in discrete granules)		Presence / Absence
	Pigment Size		Coarse, Medium, Fine
Cortex	Pigment Aggregation		Streaked, Clumped, Patchy
	Pigment Aggregate Size		Large, Medium, Small
	Pigment density		Absent, Light, Medium, Heavy, Opaque
	Pigment distribution		Uniform, Peripheral, One-sided, Random or variable, Central or medial, Pigment in cuticle, Banded
Medulla	Medulla Type	Presence & Appearance; Continuous, Discontinuous, Fragmented, etc.	Presence & Appearance; Continuous, Discontinuous, Fragmented, etc.



ENFSI-BPM-THG-03 (vs.01) BPM for the Microscopic Examination and Comparison of Human and Animal Hair

Other	Damage	Singeing, Crushing, Cutting, etc.	Singeing, Crushing, Cutting, etc.	
	Special Characteristics	Post Mortem Banding, Lice, Mould, Fungal tunnels, Insect bite marks	Post Mortem Banding, Lice, Mould, Fungal tunnels, Insect bite marks	
	Diseases		Pili annulati, Trichoschisis	



Table 2: Examples of Characteristics Used For Identification & Comparison of Animal Hairs

FEATURE		Stereomicroscopy (Incident Light)	Transmitted Light Microscopy
eristics	Colour - Described using colour chart, text, etc.	White, Yellow, Orange, Red, Brown, Black, Colour Banding/Shading, etc.	Colourless, Red, Brown, Black
	Hair Profile	With/without Shield, Straight, Curved, Undulating, Curly, Twisted, Zigzag	
	Hair Length (in mm)		
narac	Hair Diameter	Fine, Medium, Coarse	Measured in µm
General Characteristics	Cross-sectional Shape	Circular, Oval, Oblong, Biconcave, H-shaped, Dumb-bell shaped, Concave- Convex	Circular, Oval, Oblong, Biconcave, H-shaped, Dumb-bell shaped, Concave- Convex
	Proximal End	Root presence/absence, appearance and shape	Root presence/absence, Root shape, Appearance
	Distal End	Tip appearance - Natural, Cut, Abraded	Tip appearance - Natural, Cut, Abraded
Cuticle	Scale Orientation /Arrangement		Straight, Fringed, Transverse, Longitudinal, Intermediate
	Scale Margins		Smooth, Rippled, Scalloped, Dentate
	Scale Patterns		Broad Petal, Diamond Petal, Regular Wave, Irregular Wave
	Distance Between Scale Margins		Near, Distant, Close
Cortex	Cortex Thickness (in µm)		
	Pigmentation (in discrete granules)		Diffuse, Amorphous, Aggregate
	Pigment Distribution	Colour banding	In Cortex, In Medulla, Colour Banding
Medulla	Width (in μm)		Broad, Narrow
	Width Composition		Multicellular, Unicellular
	Structure		Ladder, Lattice, Isolated, Cloisonné, Filled, Crescent
	Margins		Scalloped, Straight, Fringed



	Medullary ratio:		
Other	Width of Cortex + Cuticle / Total Hair (in µm)		
	Damage	Singeing, Crushing, Cutting	Singeing, Crushing, Cutting

5.3 <u>Microscopy and DNA Analysis of Human and Animal Hairs</u>

DNA analyses are destructive techniques and consume portions of the hair, and therefore it is important that detailed microscopic comparisons are carried out, where possible, prior to DNA analysis.

Microscopy and DNA analysis are often complementary comparison techniques. In some instances, the microscopical hair comparison may be inconclusive because the hair is a fragment, featureless, or the reference hair sample was collected a significant period of time after the questioned hair. These hairs can still be analysed for DNA. Hairs that are excluded as having come from a person by a microscopical examination may not require DNA analysis.

There will also be instances when mitochondrial DNA may not provide adequate discrimination among people; individuals of the same maternal line of descent will have the same mitochondrial DNA sequence. In these cases, a microscopical examination might provide further discrimination of the hair to associate a questioned hair to a particular person in that family group.

A combination of mitochondrial DNA and comparison microscopy will often help to exclude or provide a stronger association than the use of either technique alone.

5.3.1 Preparing Hair Evidence for DNA Analysis

A hair practitioner may need to isolate and prepare the hair for DNA analysis. The hair should be prepared and transferred in such a way as to minimize contamination and degradation. The relevant local procedures and protocols for preparing samples for DNA should be followed.

5.4 Other Analytical Techniques

Other analyses may be performed on hairs that have been chemically altered or have trace materials on the surface, such as dyed hairs or hair care products. These techniques are beyond the scope of these guidelines because they are not used routinely.

5.5 Peer Review

The outcome of a hair examination should be reviewed prior to the issuing of any report detailing the findings and/or any associated interpretation.

This process takes the form of a review of technical findings and critical findings during which a second competent practitioner:

- carries out an independent 'blind' examination of the hair, and is unaware of the results of the first practitioner
- · reviews the documented results
- · reviews any interpretation and opinion-based results

The laboratory should have a procedure in place to address and resolve any differences in opinion between two practitioners.



Note: Some legal jurisdictions may also have other specific witnessing requirements during the recovery or examination process.

5.5.1 Review of Technical Findings

In hair examination cases, 'technical findings' are considered those findings not related to opinion, such as, the observation and documentation of any macroscopic and microscopic characteristics of the questioned and/or reference hairs. These may also include the results of other analytical tests or findings which are incapable of being confirmed at a later date (eg. where destructive tests are required).

5.5.2 Review of Critical Findings

In hair examination cases, 'critical findings' are considered those findings which are based on interpretation or opinion. For example:

- The location of questioned hairs before recovery, where significant evidential weight will be attached to where the hairs were recovered, for example, hairs adhering to a weapon
- The identification of damage to hair and interpretation of the cause of the damage
- The results of microscopical hair comparisons.

6 VALIDATION AND ESTIMATION OF UNCERTAINTY OF MEASUREMENT

6.1 <u>Validation</u>

For the general requirements of validation, the reader is referred to the ENFSI document "Guidelines for the Single Laboratory Validation of Instrumental and Human Based Methods in Forensic Science", and in particular, Section 4, Human Based Methods [7, 8].

Validation should focus on the process of identification and comparison of hairs and does not extend to evaluating the significance of hair comparison results.

Hair **identification** is based upon well-established scientific principles supported by scientific literature extending back over a hundred years. Hair identification is soundly based on scientific peer-reviewed methodology in anatomy, physiology and taxonomy.

Forensic **comparisons** of hairs have been used and scientifically accepted worldwide for many decades. The literature dealing with hair characteristics and the reliability of forensic hair comparison is extensive. The quality of hair comparisons depends on the judgment and experience of the practitioner, which may be achieved by scientific education, training and continued professional development.

Hair identification and comparison are human-based methods of examination. Therefore, validation and verification should comprise practitioners demonstrating competence by showing that they can provide consistent, reproducible and valid results that are compatible with the results of other competent practitioners.

6.2 <u>Estimation of Uncertainty of Measurement</u>

Uncertainties of measurement in hair examinations can firstly relate to those arising from the use of instruments, equipment and reagents. Secondly, as a human-based method, practitioner competence forms the basis of reliable and reproducible results. In addition, hair examinations are often reliant on adequate sampling and the nature and variation of hair samples.



6.2.1 Instrumentation/equipment/reagents (Refer to Section 4.2 and 4.5)

Uncertainties of measurement attributable to microscopy can be minimised by servicing and maintenance of the equipment according to the manufacturer's specifications. In addition, regular performance and calibration checks should be performed.

Uncertainties of measurements attributable to reagents (eg. mounting media, fluorescent dyes) can be minimised by the selection of reagents of appropriate quality and/or refractive index. Failure to carry out these steps can have an impact on the practitioner's ability to visualise and recognise key characteristics / features.

Macroscopic measurements, such as hair length, are rarely critical, and therefore any uncertainty of measurement is unlikely to be of significance.

6.2.2 Practitioner competence

As a human-based method, the reliability and reproducibility of results of hair examinations are highly reliant upon practitioner competence. Well-trained and competent practitioners participating in regular proficiency testing pose minimal risk of error and uncertainty.

Practitioner competence extends to reporting, where it has been observed by some that the use of imprecise reporting of hair comparisons has, in the past, caused significant issues [9]. This is discussed further in Section 12, Evaluation and Interpretation.

6.2.3 Hair samples

Each of the following has an impact on the ability of the practitioner to attribute a hair to a source with any degree of certainty:

- · Non representative reference sampling
- Highly variable hair samples
- · Hair samples with limited or non-distinguishable characteristics / features

7 PROFICIENCY TESTING

Proficiency tests (PTs) supported by collaborative exercises (CEs) should be used to test and assure the quality of microscopical identification and comparison of human and animal hair.

Proficiency tests and collaborative exercises could form a part of the maintenance of a practitioner's competence. A list of currently available PT/CE schemes as composed by the QCC is available at the ENFSI Secretariat.

"Guidance on the Conduct of Proficiency Tests and Collaborative Exercises within ENFSI" [10] provides information for the ENFSI Expert Working Groups (EWGs) on how to organise effective proficiency tests and collaborative exercises for their members.

Proficiency tests in hair examination are regularly available from commercial organisations (eg. FTS in the USA) and are set biennially by the ENFSI Expert Working Group (ETHG).

Such tests typically involve:

- Distinguishing human from animal hairs
- · Identifying somatic origin of human hairs
- Identifying the suitability for nuclear DNA analysis
- · Comparison of human and animal hairs
- Identification of animal species



In addition, these may be supplemented by tests provided by collaborations of laboratories or within an organisation.

The performance in proficiency testing and collaborative exercises must be reviewed by the organisations in a timely manner and any anomalous results investigated and addressed with appropriate corrective actions.

8 HANDLING ITEMS

Hair examinations will be driven by the requirement of the client and the overall forensic examination strategy. Personnel should be aware that various types of evidence will be present during the processing of a crime scene or the examination of items submitted to the laboratory. Some types of evidence may be more significant to a particular case and therefore should be given higher priority. The situation has to be considered carefully before any examinations take place. All potential forensic opportunities should be considered and the appropriate experts should be consulted.

8.1 At the Crime Scene

The following recommendations apply to the examination of hairs relating to a crime scene, as well as hairs relating to victim(s) and suspect(s).

8.1.1 Avoidance of Contamination and Prevention of Loss

The accessibility to crime scenes should be restricted and any access should be documented.

Items from different sources must be physically separated from one another after seizure to reduce the potential for contamination, eg. clothing and other articles from the scene, suspect(s) and of the victim(s) must be kept separate from one another.

Any situation that could cause contamination or otherwise compromise the trace evidence examinations should be documented and communicated.

In order to protect hair traces or their substrates from loss and/or biological, chemical, or physical contaminants, personal protective equipment (PPE) should be worn by the practitioner at the scene. The choice of PPE will be determined by the aims of the examiner.

The area for examination (crime scene) may require protection against environmental conditions, eg. tents to protect against adverse weather.

Items at a crime scene which bear visible but easily lost traces, or items that are impractical to transport, should be appropriately documented, and the traces collected by an appropriate technique.

To prevent the loss of evidence, consideration should be given to the recovery of hairs at the scene by an appropriate method (refer to section 8.1.2). Alternatively, items can be removed from the scene and hairs recovered later in the laboratory. If this is the case, these items should be packaged immediately in an appropriate manner (refer to section 8.1.4).

Steps should be taken to avoid post-incident contamination between the scene, victim(s) and suspect(s), eg. by the use of different personnel or PPE.



8.1.2 Search and Recovery

8.1.2.1 Searching

Some hairs are visible to the naked eye under adequate illumination and can therefore be located, recovered and secured for further examination. Supplementary lighting or a magnification glass might be advantageous.

8.1.2.2 Manual Recovery

Generally, manual recovery of hairs is the preferred method for recovering hairs and should take place before any other examinations of that item.

Loose hairs visible to the unaided eye may be collected from an object by picking them off individually by gloved hand or with clean forceps. Hairs that are embedded in or adhering to a substrate must be carefully inspected before removal. The location of these hairs should be documented. Care must be taken not to contaminate, alter or damage the hairs.

Manual recovery of hairs does not generally affect other evidence types but may be time consuming.

8.1.2.3 Adhesive Tape Lifting

Hairs not visible to the naked eye may also be collected from items using adhesive tape lifts which are applied to a surface. Loosely adhering trace evidence will stick to the tape and can easily be preserved by being placed on a backing such as an acetate or polyethylene sheet, or by folding the tape against itself. Care should be taken not to overload tapes. Consider the use of additional tape to seal the edges of insecure tapes.

Be aware that the adhesive from the lifting material could interfere with the analysis of surface treatments that might be present on the hairs.

Sequential taping is the standard tape lifting method used. If additional information about the distribution of hairs on an item is required, then zonal or 1:1 taping may be more appropriate.

Although manual recovery of hairs is preferable, tape lifting is acceptable but may alter or destroy other evidence types and can also be problematic in adverse conditions, such as wet or extremely dusty surfaces.

8.1.2.4 *Combing*

When recovering transferred hairs (and other trace materials) from a person's head or pubic region, the combing technique or taping can be used. When combing, always use a new comb or brush. Lacing the teeth of a comb with clean cotton or gauze may help to retain hairs and debris on the comb. Place a piece of clean paper under the area that is combed to catch loose hairs and debris; this paper should be included in the evidence package with the comb.

The use of fine-toothed combs (eg. lice combs) is not recommended.

Transferred hairs and other trace material should always be recovered before taking reference samples from a given individual.

8.1.2.5 Other Recovery Methods

Hairs can also be collected from an item by brushing or vacuuming. Brushes must be new and the appropriate vacuum filter, trap and other relevant parts must be changed and/or rigorously



cleaned between each vacuuming to avoid contamination. These methods recover all types of loose debris which still requires separation and the original position of any evidence will be unknown.

8.1.3 Reference Sampling

Reference samples should be requested from all persons or animals who might reasonably be considered a source of a questioned hair.

Reference hairs should be sampled from specific somatic regions for comparisons to questioned hairs. Every effort should be made to ensure that these hairs are sampled as soon as possible after the incident.

Sampling should be carried out in the following sequence:

- 1. Combing to recover telogen hairs; recovered material may include both transferred hairs and other trace material.
- Pulling and cutting of the reference samples.

Different hairs from the same body region of a person exhibit variation in microscopical characteristics and features. Therefore, it is important to obtain a sufficient number of hairs in order to adequately represent the range of characteristics present. If the range is large, it becomes necessary to obtain a larger number of hairs.

- A reference human head hair sample should consist of hairs from the five different areas of the scalp (top, front, back including nape, and both sides). Ideally, a minimum of 20 hairs per region should be taken from the scalp (i.e. a minimum of 100 hairs in total).
- · A reference human pubic hair sample or a sample from any other somatic region should ideally consist of a minimum of 20 hairs.
- · A reference animal hair sample should ideally represent the range of colour and hair types (refer to Table 2, page 15) present at the different body regions (head, back, tail, belly, limbs) of the animal. If possible, a photograph of the animal of interest should be provided.

Notes:

- A comparison can still be performed with fewer than the recommended number of hairs, but this may increase the likelihood of a false exclusion.
- · Whilst pulled hair samples are preferable for microscopical comparison, it is recognised that such samples may be impractical to obtain.
- · Combed hair samples must be packaged and labelled separately. Additionally, it is desirable for hairs from each sampled region (eg. from the head regions) to be packaged and labelled individually.

8.1.4 Preservation and Packaging

The method of preservation and packaging of hairs and items to be examined for hairs will vary. Packaging must prevent loss, deterioration, or contamination of the hairs.

All evidence packages must be properly sealed in a manner to prevent tampering and eliminate loss or contamination of the hairs through open edges.

Loose hairs and tape lifts must be secured in clean, unused containers or packaging. Large items, such as whole garments, should preferably be sealed individually in clean, unused packaging.



Wet recovered items bearing hairs or wet hair samples should be air dried as soon as possible, without exposure to heat or sunlight, in a secured area in a manner that will prevent loss or contamination of the hairs. Alternatively, wet hair samples may be frozen. An arrangement to collect hairs and any other trace evidence that may fall from the item during drying should be used.

Small or manageable items at a crime scene that bear visible, firmly attached hairs should be documented, packaged intact, and transported to the laboratory for examination. Items at a crime scene that bear visible but easily lost hairs, or items that are impractical to transport, should be documented and the hairs collected using an appropriate technique.

8.1.5 Labelling and Documentation

The techniques used for detection, collection, and preservation of the items should be recorded together with the location from which they are removed.

The labelling of any items recovered should follow the local jurisdiction guidelines.

Documentation of the handling and examination of items and traces at the scene should include:

- The location of the scene, the name of the victim/suspect
- The date (and time, when appropriate) the item or trace was recovered
- · The name of the person recovering the item or trace
- · A short description of the recovered item or trace
- A unique identifying mark for each item or trace, e.g. case number and item number
- The position of relevant items (e.g. documented by notes, sketches, measurements and/or photographs)

8.1.6 Transport

There are no particular problems or risks associated with the transportation of hair samples provided that they have been packaged appropriately so as to avoid any risk of contamination or tampering.

8.1.7 Storage

Any items recovered from the scene, a victim(s) or a suspect(s) should be stored in a manner which prevents loss, deterioration, or contamination, eg. loose hairs and tape lifts must be secured in clean, unused containers or packaging. Ideally hairs should be stored in a dry and dark environment.

8.2 <u>In the Laboratory</u>

8.2.1 Anti-contamination Procedures

The accessibility to examination areas should be controlled.

The recovery of hairs from different sources (scenes, victims, suspects) must be undertaken separately from one another to reduce the potential for contamination. Once the hairs are recovered, secured and labelled the risk of inter-sample contamination is minimised. To demonstrate the integrity of the examination, notes should include details of item packaging and the examination undertaken, together with the examination date, time and location.

Any situation that could cause contamination or otherwise compromise the trace evidence examination should be documented and communicated.



In order to protect hair traces or their substrates from loss and/or biological, chemical, or physical contaminants, PPE should be worn by the practitioner. The choice of PPE will be determined by the examination strategy.

It is desirable to clean any packaging of exhibits immediately prior to opening to prevent any contamination.

Laboratories, examination areas and equipment should be cleaned according to laboratory anticontamination protocols before and after examinations are carried out.

8.2.2 Search and Recovery

8.2.2.1 Searching

Some hairs are visible to the naked eye under adequate illumination and can therefore be located, recovered and secured for further examination. Supplementary lighting and the use of microscopes might be advantageous.

8.2.2.2 Manual recovery

Generally, manual recovery of hairs is the preferred method for recovering hairs and should take place before any other examinations of that item.

Loose hairs visible to the unaided eye may be collected from an object by picking them off individually by gloved hand or with clean forceps. Hairs that are embedded in or adhering to a substrate must be carefully inspected before removal. The location of these hairs should be documented. Care must be taken not to contaminate, alter or damage the hairs.

Manual recovery of hairs does not generally affect other evidence types but may be time consuming.

8.2.2.3 Adhesive Tape Lifting

Hairs not visible to the naked eye may also be collected from items using adhesive tape lifts which are applied to a surface. Loosely adhering trace evidence will stick to the tape and can easily be preserved by being placed on a backing such as an acetate or polyethylene sheet, or by folding the tape against itself. Care should be taken not to overload tapes. Consider the use of additional tape to seal the edges of insecure tapes.

Be aware that the adhesive from the lifting material could interfere with the analysis of surface treatments that might be present on the hairs.

Sequential tape lifting is the standard tape lifting method used. If additional information about the distribution of hairs on an item is required, then zonal or 1:1 taping may be more appropriate.

Although manual recovery of hairs is preferable, tape lifting is acceptable but may alter or destroy other evidence types and can also be problematic in adverse conditions, such as wet or extremely dusty surfaces.

8.2.2.4 Other Recovery Methods

Hairs can also be collected from an item by brushing or vacuuming. Brushes must be new and the appropriate vacuum filter, trap and other relevant parts must be changed and/or rigorously cleaned between each vacuuming to avoid contamination. These methods recover all types



of loose debris which still requires separation and the original position of any evidence will be unknown.

8.2.3 General Considerations

If the hair samples require washing or cleaning, then the potential significance of adhering material should be assessed and documented before this is undertaken.

The presence of a small amount of blood or debris on a hair may not interfere with the microscopical examination. A washed hair should be allowed to air dry prior to mounting.

Hair exhibiting thermal or mechanical damage may be more brittle and should be handled minimally and with more care.

8.2.4 Storage Conditions

Hairs must be stored in a manner which prevents loss, deterioration, or contamination, eg. loose hairs and tape lifts must be secured in clean, unused containers or packaging. Ideally hairs should be stored in a dry and dark environment.

A record of movement including storage should be held.

9 INITIAL ASSESSMENT

The significance and evidential value of hair evidence relies upon the correct detection, collection and preservation of this evidence and the appropriate sequence of examinations. Furthermore, the success of hair examinations and interpreting the evidential value of results is strongly dependent on the initial case assessment and forensic examination strategy, devised by the relevant personnel involved.

Prior to starting any examinations, the requirements of the client must be clearly defined and documented. Detailed information about the circumstances of the case is usually necessary to assess any potential limitations in the examinations proposed and their effect on the perceived outcome.

Factors to be considered when establishing the client's requirement include:

- What area(s) and level of expertise is required
- Whether the laboratory has the capacity, suitable resources, facilities and equipment available to perform the necessary examinations
- Whether there is any time or other constraints that might affect the overall examination strategy, for example, where other evidence types are involved in the examination sequence

In relation to hair evidence specifically, this may require consideration of the potential for the transfer and retention of hair based on the information available. This includes:

- · What is suspected or known to have occurred before, during and after the incident
- The persons (or animals) involved
- The sequence of events and the time frames involved, including those associated with the recovery of items submitted for examination

Before examination in the laboratory commences, the potential risk of contamination prior to laboratory submission should be assessed by establishing whether:



- There was any opportunity for the transfer of hairs between the individuals, items and/ or surfaces involved prior to the incident
- There was an opportunity for hair transfer between the individual(s), items and/or surfaces involved following the incident
- The items relating to the individual(s), and/or items involved were properly handled during recovery and packaged appropriately
- There was any opportunity for secondary transfer to individuals, items and/or surfaces involved, such as contact with other individuals and/or seating.

In instances where more than one scientific discipline is involved and/or different evidence types need to be considered, a coordinated examination strategy will determine the actions to be taken and the most appropriate methods to be used for the search and recovery of hairs.

10 PRIORITISATION AND SEQUENCE OF EXAMINATIONS

The prioritisation and sequence of examinations is determined by the overall forensic examination strategy (refer to Section 9, Initial Assessment).

Consideration should be given to the following before commencing any recovery and examinations of hair:

- The urgency and priority of the client's need for information
- · Other types of forensic evidence, and the associated examinations which may have to be carried out on the same items
- Which items have the potential to provide the most evidential information
- To minimise the possibilities of contamination it is preferable to examine all items relating to one individual or scene before commencing with items relating to others.

In general the examination protocol might be as follows:

- · Recovery of visible material, such as hairs, glass, etc., adhering loosely to the item
- · Recovery of any potential material not visible to the naked eye. In some instances a low power microscopical search of the item may be relevant. This method decreases any potential contamination and loss of unforeseen evidence
- Any dry testing (eg. testing for the presence of blood)
- Recovery of material for further testing (eg. DNA sampling)
- Any wet testing (eg. tests for the presence of semen and recovery of such material)
- Any comparison testing (eg. hair or fibre comparison)
- Any testing of recovered material (eg. body fluids, cosmetic products)
- Destructive testing (eg. DNA analysis)

During the examination there may be a conflict of interest, and there may be occasions where one test could prevent others being attempted or where the ability to obtain a result is compromised. In such instances the practitioner should consider:

- What is the chance of obtaining informative results from the different tests?
- What would be the probative values of the results?
- Which test is most likely to answer the client's questions?

Such considerations should be documented and reviewed by another competent practitioner.

11 RECONSTRUCTION OF EVENTS

In some cases it might be necessary to carry out experimentation to evaluate the findings. This



might take the form of a simulation or reconstruction exercise designed to mimic the proposed causative actions. For example, tests to replicate heat-damaged or crush-damaged hairs.

Such tests should be designed so as to answer the issues raised during the examination process, or by the client. Any experiments or tests carried out should be well documented, including any assumptions made and limitations of the tests. Before carrying out destructive testing in reconstruction experiments it is advisable to consider the use of replicate samples. Where replicates are used (eg. weapons) they should closely reflect the form and condition of the original item.

When carrying out any experimentation, it is preferable not to alter the original evidence (depending on the legal jurisdiction). Where it is altered by experimentation, this has to be clearly documented and disclosed to the Court.

12 EVALUATION AND INTERPRETATION

Evaluation and interpretation of the findings should reflect the issues identified in the initial assessment and should answer the specific requirements of the client (refer to Section 9, Initial Assessment).

Knowledge and understanding of the dynamics of the transfer and persistence of hair, and the techniques available for the detection, collection, examination and analysis of hair evidence play an important role in the evaluation and interpretation of hair evidence.

12.1 Hair Identification (species, ancestry and somatic origin).

The identification of both human and animal hair depends on the presence of key characteristics (eg. scale pattern, medullary structure, root appearance). Where those characteristics are absent, the confidence in identification is lowered (eg. small hair fragments). Comparison against laboratory reference collections can assist and give greater confidence in the identification of an unknown sample.

There is a reduced degree of certainty in the identification where there is an overlap in characteristics between different hair types, for example ascribing a hair to a specific human ancestral origin or somatic type (eg. mixed ancestry and transition areas on the body) and ascribing an animal hair to a species (eg. hare and rabbit hair).

12.2 <u>Hair Comparison</u> (hair colour and characteristics):

Because no two hairs are exactly the same in every detail (identical), it must be determined what range of characteristics is represented within the reference hair sample. If the characteristics exhibited by the questioned hair(s) fit within the range of characteristics present within the reference hair sample then it is possible to conclude that the hairs could share a common origin.

Microscopical examination of hair does not lead to the identification of the donor to the exclusion of all others. Therefore, having established that the questioned hair possesses characteristics that fall within the range of characteristics seen in the reference hair sample, to evaluate the significance of this finding the practitioner must attempt to assess how common those shared characteristics might be. In Bayesian terms, this is assessing the likelihood of finding a hair with these characteristics if it did *not* come from the same source as the reference sample. The presence of some types of hair characteristics may increase the confidence that a questioned



and a reference hair sample have a common source, for example the presence of similar dyes or hair abnormalities. The confidence that the two hair samples have a common source may be reduced, for example when the number of characteristics that can be used for comparison is limited.

Over the years there has been much conflicting debate as to how the evidential value of hair comparisons should be evaluated [for example, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15]. There is no association between the number of characteristics shared by the questioned and reference hairs and the probability that the samples have a common origin. In addition, no scientifically accepted statistics exist regarding the frequency with which particular morphological characteristics occur in the population [9].

Although some laboratories have built up internal reference collections to help assess the frequency of some characteristics, the assessment of the strength of the findings still primarily relies on the scientist's experience.

Some US studies have highlighted that on occasion hairs apparently 'associated' by microscopic comparisons have later been shown by mitochondrial DNA analysis to have originated from different sources [9]. This is not unexpected given the relative discriminating powers of the two techniques. The problem here lies in imprecise reporting terminology, where an unqualified 'associated with' or 'could be from' can suggest individualisation. This can then cause concern when the results of subsequent DNA analysis of the hair apparently contradict the microscopy findings.

The current view is that microscopy and mitochondrial DNA analysis are complementary, with the two methods combined providing an additional level of information that provides greater accuracy than either method alone [16], although to date there have been no studies to quantify the reliability of their joint use [9].

Where the characteristics exhibited by the questioned hair(s) do not fall within the range of those in the reference hair sample, the questioned hairs may be excluded as having come from the same source (assuming that the reference hair sample is truly representative).

On occasion, the results of a hair comparison can be termed inconclusive where the examination cannot establish whether the hairs share a common origin or not. For example, where hairs do not exhibit sufficient distinguishing characteristics or the number of hairs in the reference sample is inadequate.

12.3 Cognitive Bias

Any hair comparison inevitably involves an element of subjectivity and is therefore prone to cognitive bias; this can take various forms. 'Confirmation bias' occurs when the practitioner sees what they *expect* to see, and this can have a particular effect where the findings are relatively ambiguous. Outside information, such as case notes, police opinions, awareness of any particularly emotive aspects of a case ('contextual bias'), or knowledge of the opinion of any earlier examination by a colleague, can all influence the interpretation. The effects of such cognitive bias are now widely recognised [for example, 17, 18, 19], and although procedures have been suggested to minimise cognitive influences in hair comparison [20], these have not been widely adopted. The effects of cognitive influences can be minimised by assessing specific characteristics from a limited set of options available on a hair examination form. In addition, the use of independent peer review of hair comparisons can, to some extent, minimise the effects of cognitive influences.



12.4 The Significance of Transfer and Persistence

The opportunity for hair transfer will depend primarily on the nature and extent of the contact between the individual (or animal) and the items or surfaces involved.

Transferred hairs can be lost or redistributed after the initial transfer. The rate of loss will be influenced by factors such as:

- the nature of the recipient item
- · the environmental conditions to which that item is subjected
- the physical attributes of the hair
- post-transfer activity

Where the method of transfer (eg. primary or secondary transfer) and the time of occurrence is an issue, published literature can provide some guidance. In such instances, assessment at the initial examination stage should formulate likely outcomes and expectations against which the results of the examination can be evaluated.

For general information relating to evaluative reporting, the reader is referred to the ENFSI document "Guideline for Evaluative Reporting in Forensic Science" [21].

13 PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE

The overriding duty of those providing expert testimony is to the Court and to the administration of justice. As such, evidence should be provided with honesty, integrity, objectivity and impartiality.

Evidence can be presented to the court either orally or in writing. Only information which is supported by the examinations carried out should be presented. The presentation of evidence should clearly state the results of any evaluation and interpretation of the examination.

After issuing their report, the practitioner may review and alter their opinion based on new information given to them.

13.1 Presentation of Written Evidence

The practitioner's findings and opinion are normally provided in written form, as a statement of evidence or a report. These can be used by the investigator, the prosecutor, the defence or the court. Depending on the client's requirements, either a shortened or a complete report can be issued.

Written reports should include all the relevant information in a clear, concise, structured and unambiguous manner, as required by the relevant legal process for the country of jurisdiction, as well as the guidelines of the institute. Reports should clearly state the results of any evaluation and interpretation of the examination, and written reports must be peer reviewed.

13.2 <u>Presentation of Oral Evidence</u>

At Court, the practitioner should only respond to matters arising from their report, or those matters raised in Court, which fall within their area of expertise. Expert witnesses should resist responding to questions that will take them outside their field of expertise, unless specifically directed by the court, and even then a declaration as to the limitations of their expertise should be made.



14 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The relevant national health and safety regulations must be complied with.

14.1 At the Crime Scene

There are no specific hazards associated with the recovery of hairs at the crime scene.

Generic hazards that apply to any crime scene, for example risks associated with exposure to body fluids, trip hazards, etc., will always need to be considered and may be documented as part of the formal risk assessment process prior to scene entry. Control measures should be put in place to either remove the risk or minimise it to an acceptable safe working level.

No specific protective clothing is necessary for hair recovery at crime scenes, and the usual anti-contamination clothing (including head hair protective covering) is adequate.

14.2 <u>In the Laboratory</u>

Generic hazards that apply to any laboratory examination, for example risks associated with exposure to body fluids, etc., will always need to be considered. Control measures should be put in place to either remove the risk or minimise it to an acceptable safe working level.

No specific protective clothing is necessary for hair recovery or examination at the laboratory, and the usual laboratory anti-contamination clothing (as dictated by local laboratory procedure) is adequate.

Risks in the examination process at the laboratory include:

 Microscopic examination and comparison of hairs can be a lengthy process, during which time the operator may be seated for prolonged periods at the microscope. There is a risk of eye strain and postural discomfort, which should be alleviated by frequent breaks from the examination process.

The laboratory may consider the need for a documented risk assessment of the workplace environment, to ensure that laboratory lighting is adequate and seating position is optimised, with seating providing the appropriate lumbar support and set at the appropriate height relative to the laboratory bench and microscope etc.

 Exposure to chemicals can also be an issue. Solvents may be used by some laboratories to remove hairs from tape lifts, whilst some laboratories may utilise solvent-based mountants for mounting hairs on microscope slides. Other chemicals, for example DAPI, or those used for scale casting, may on occasion be used during the examination process. The risks associated with the various chemicals, solvents and mountants used will vary.

The laboratory should undertake and document a risk assessment of the hazards associated with the use of any chemicals, solvents or mountants, in a specific activity and identify the precautions to be taken during their use in that activity to mitigate the risks. Some chemicals, solvents and mountants may have to be used in a fume hood or while wearing a suitable protective mask and safety spectacles. In some instances certain personnel should avoid any exposure to the particular chemical. For example, xylene-based mountants may pose a risk to unborn children and exposure of pregnant female staff to these chemicals must be avoided.



14.3 At Court

There are no specific safety risks associated with hair evidence where the materials may be brought into the public domain, such as Courts.

However, if the hair is known to present a biohazard, for example, it is contaminated with lice or body fluids, it should be appropriately packaged and clearly labelled to indicate the biohazard risk.

14.4 Other

Sampling reference samples may have associated risks, particularly as the sampling will usually require the use of sharp scissors or similar. For example, sampling hair from an uncooperative human suspect or from an animal poses the risk of sharps injury to the sampler and subsequent risk associated with potential exposure to body fluids. Sampling animal reference hair samples may also have health risks specific to the animal concerned, for example sampling hair from dangerous undomesticated animals or animals posing a biohazard risk to humans. In such instances a risk assessment specific to the risks associated with the activity should be documented, identifying the risks and the precautions to be taken to mitigate the risks.

15 REFERENCES

- 1 ILAC/G19: 08/2014, Modules in a Forensic Science Process.
- 2 EN ISO/IEC 9000:2005 Quality Management Systems Fundamentals and Vocabulary.
- 3 EN ISO/IEC 17000:2004 Conformity Assessment Vocabulary and General Principles.
- 4 EN ISO/IEC 17020:2012 Conformity Assessment Requirements for the Operation of Various Types of Bodies Performing Inspection.
- 5 EN ISO/IEC 17025:2005 General Requirements for the Competence of Testing and Calibration Laboratories.
- Roe, G. M., R. Cook and C. North. 1991. Evaluation of mountants for use in forensic science hair examination. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 31(1): 59-65
- 7 Guidelines for the Single Laboratory Validation of Instrumental and Human Based Methods in Forensic Science, Version 2.0, 2014
- 8 Guidelines for the Single Laboratory Validation of Instrumental and Human Based Methods in Forensic Science. Examples.
- 9 National Research Council. 2009. National Academy of Sciences Report -Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward.
- 10 QCC-PT-001, Guidance on the Conduct of Proficiency Tests and Collaborative Exercises within ENFSI, Version 001, 27/06/2014.
- Gaudette, B. D. and E. S. Keeping. 1974. An attempt at determining probabilities in human scalp hair comparison. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 19: 599-606.



- Gaudette, B. D. 1976. Probabilities and human pubic hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 21: 514-517.
- Barnett, P. D. and R. R. Ogle. 1982. Probabilities and human hair comparison. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 27: 272-282.
- Aitken, C. G. G. and J. Robertson. 1987. Contribution to the discussion of probabilities and human hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 32: 684-689.
- Wickenheiser, R. A. and D.G. Hepworth. 1990. Further evaluation of probabilities in scalp hair comparison, Journal of Forensic Sciences. 35: 1323-1329.
- Houck, M. M. and B. Budowle. 2002. Correlation of microscopic and mitochondrial DNA hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 47: 964-967.
- 17 Kassin, S. M., I.E Dror and J. Kukucka. 2013. The forensic confirmation bias: Problems, perspectives, and proposed solutions. Journal of Applied research in Memory and Cognition, 2: 42-52.
- Dror, I. E. and D. Charlton. 2006. Why Experts Make Errors. Journal of Forensic Identification, 56(4): 600-616.
- Dror, I. E., D. Charlton, and A. E. Peron. 2006. Contextual information renders experts vulnerable to making erroneous identifications. Forensic Science international, 156: 74-78.
- Miller. L. 1987. Procedural Bias in Forensic Science Examinations of Human Hair. Law and Human Behavior, 11(2): 15-162.
- 21 ENFSI Guideline for Evaluative Reporting in Forensic Science, 2015.

16 AMENDMENTS AGAINST PREVIOUS VERSION

Not applicable.



APPENDIX - BIBLIOGRAPHY FOR HAIR PRACTITIONERS

The following is a list of useful references for hair practitioners. It is neither exclusive nor exhaustive.

General Information

Scientific Working Group on Materials Analysis (SWGMAT). 2005. Forensic Hair Examination Guidelines.

European Textile and Hair Group (ETHG). 2012. Best Practice Guidelines for the Forensic Examination of Fibres. 2nd edition.

Brettell, T. A., J.M. Butler and J. R. Amirall. 2009. Forensic science. Analytical Chemistry, 81(12): 4695-4711.

Brown, S. E. 1978. A chronology of hairs and fibres as evidence in Canada. Canadian Society of Forensic Science Journal, 11(2): 185-193.

Camps, F. E. 1968. Examination of hair. In: Gradwohl's Legal Medicine, 221-232, ed. F. E. Camps. Bristol: J. Wright.

Crocker. E. J. 1999. Trace Evidence. In: Forensic Evidence in Canada, 2nd ed.,249-289, eds. G. M. Chayko. Aurora, Ontario, Canada.

Danforth, C. H. 1826. Hair. Natural History, 26: 75-79.

Daniel, C. R. 3rd, B.M Piraccini and A. Tosti. 2004. The nail and hair in forensic science. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 50(2): 258-261.

Deedrick, D. W. 2000. Hairs, Fibers, Crime, and Evidence. Forensic Science Communications, 2(3).

Gaudette, B. D. 1985. Fibre evidence. RCMP Gazette, 47(12): 18-20.

Glaister, J. A. 1931. Study of Hairs and Wool, Publication 1, 15. Cairo: MISR Press.

Glaister, J. A. 1969. Hairs and fibers. Criminologist, 4: 23-30.

Gonzales, T. A., M. Vance, M. Halpern and C. Umberger. 1954. Legal Medicine Pathology and Toxicology. New York: Appleton Century Crofts.

Gross, H. 1924. Criminal Investigation. Adapted from System Der Kriminalistik, 131-138, ed. J. C. Adams. London: Sweet and Maxwell.

Hackett, E. 1984. Hair. Medical Journal of Australia, 141: 300-302.

Houck, M. M. 2006. Questions about forensic science. Science, 311(5761): 607-610.



Imwinkelried, 1982. Forensic hair analysis: The case against the underemployment of scientific evidence. Washington and Lee Law Review, 39(1): 41-67.

Kaempe, B. 1999. New discoveries in forensic medicine. Hair analysis. Weekly Journal of Doctors (Ugeskrift for Laeger), 161(13): 1901-1905. [in Danish]

Kirk, P. L. 1953. Crime Investigation. New York: Interscience (Division of John Wiley).

Lee, H. C. and P. R. DeForest. 1984. Forensic hair examination. In: Forensic Science, eds. C. H. Wecht. Newark, NJ: Matthew Bender.

Locard, E. 1930. Analysis of dust traces (Part I). American Journal of Police Science, 1(3): 276-298.

McCrone, W. C. 1979. Particle analysis in the crime laboratory. In: Particle Atlas, Volume 5: Light Microscopy Atlas and Techniques, 1379-1384, eds. W. C. McCrone, J. G. Delly, and S. J. Palenik. Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishers.

Mitchell, C. A. 1930. Circumstantial evidence from hairs and fibers. The American Journal of Police Science, 1(6): 594-602.

Moenssens, A. A., A.R.E Moses and F. E. Inbau. 1978. Scientific Evidence in Criminal Cases. New York: The Free Press.

Moreau, D. M. 1987. Major physical evidence in sexual assault investigations. In: Practical Aspects of Rape Investigations, 96-136, eds. R. R. Hazelwood and A. W. Burgess. New York: Elsevier Science.

National Research Council. 2009. National Academy of Sciences Report - Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward.

Niyogi, S. K. 1969. Some aspects of hair examination. Medicine, Science and the Law, 9(4): 270-271.

O'Hara, C. H. and J. W. Osterburg. 1949. An Introduction to Criminalistics. New York: MacMillan Co.

Petraco, N. and P. R. DeForest. 1990. Trajectory reconstructions. I: Trace evidence in flight. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 35(6): 1284-1296.

Petraco, N. 1986. Trace evidence: the invisible witness. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 31(1): 321-328.

Pillsbury, D. M., W.B Shelley, W. B. and A. M. Kligman. 1956. Hair. In: Dermatology, ed. D. M. Pillsbury, W. B. Shelley and A. M. Kligman. Philadelphia: WB Saunders.

Robertson, J. 1999. Forensic Examination of Hair, 2nd edition, ed. J. Robertson. London: Taylor & Francis.

Robertson, J. 1995. The forensic examination of fibres and hairs. In: Expert Evidence, 3903-4255.



Ryder, M. L. 1973. Hair. London: Edward Arnold.

Seta, S., H. Sato and B. Miyake. 1988. Forensic hair investigation. Forensic Science Progress, 2: 47-166.

Smith, S. and J. Glaister. 1939. Recent Advances in Forensic Medicine. 2nd ed., Blakistons, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, pp.86-124.

Söderman, H. and E. Fontell. 1930. Handbok I: Kriminalteknik, 534-552. Stockholm.

Söderman, H. and J. J. O'Connell. 1935. Modern Criminal Investigation, 188-195. New York: Funk and Wagnalls.

Trotter, M. 1928. Anthropometry: A review of the classifications of hair. American Journal of Physical Anthropology. 24(1): 105-126.

Zviak, C. and R. P. R. Dawber. 1986. Hair structure, function, and physicochemical properties. In: The Science of Hair Care, 1-48, ed. C. Zviak. New York: Marcell Dekker.

Methodology - Examination and Analysis

General

Barrett, S. 1985. Commercial hair analysis. Science or scam? Journal of the American Medical Association, 254(8): 1041-1045.

Chandra, H. 1967. Collection of hair samples – a method. Journal of Forensic Medicine, 14(2): 72-74

Gloor, M. 1978. Determination and analysis of sebum on skin and hair. In: Cosmetic Science, Volume 1: 218. New York: Academic Press.

Goulle, J. P., Prieur, F., Ragot, A. and D. Hachin. 1994. Analysis of hair: medical and medicolegal value. Presse Médicale, 23(10): 493.

Kolowski, J. C., Petraco, N. Wallace, M. M. et. 2004. A comparison study of hair examination methodologies. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 49(6): 1253-1255.

McCrone, W. C. 1982. Microanalytical tools and techniques for the characterization, comparison, and identification of particulate (trace) evidence. Microscope, 30: 105-117.

Musshoff, F. and B. Madea. 2007. Analytical pitfalls of hair testing. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 388(7): 1475-1494.

Petraco, N. and T. Kubic. 2004. Colour Atlas and Manual of Microscopy for Criminalists, Chemists, and Conservators. Boca Raton (USA): CRC Press.

Swinton, S. F. 1999. Construction of a roller device for the collection of hair and fiber evidence. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 44(5): 1089-1090.



Roe, G. M., R. Cook and C. North. 1991. An evaluation of mountants for use in forensic hair examination. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 31(1): 59-65.

Shaffer, S. A. 1982. A protocol for the examination of hair evidence. The Microscope, 30: 151-161.

<u>Light Microscopy</u>

Curtis, R. K. and D. R. Tyson. 1976. Birefringence: Polarization microscopy as a quantitative technique of human hair analysis. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 27: 411-431.

Evans, W. E. D. 1964. The use of normal incident illumination in the examination of hair cuticle. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 4(4): 217-218.

Garn, S. M. 1951. The examination of hair under the polarizing microscope. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 53: 649-652.

Gonzales, T., M. Vance, M. Halpern and C. Umberger. 1954. Microscopy of hair and other material. In: Legal Medicine Pathology & Toxicology, 2nd edition, 674-689. New York: Appleton Century Crofts Inc.

Hausman, L. A. 1944. Applied microscopy of hair. Scientific Monthly, 59: 195-202.

Hicks, J. W. 1977. Microscopy of Hairs: A Practical Guide and Manual. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

McCrone, W. C. 1977. Characterization of human hair by light microscopy. The Microscope, 25(1): 15-30.

Schwinger, E. and E. Pott. 1977. Demonstration of air inclusions in human hair by light and UV microscopy. Journal of Legal Medicine (Zeitschrift für Rechtsmedizin), 79(3): 199-204. [in German].

Scanning Electron Microscopy

Choudhry, M. Y., Kingston, C. R., Kobilinsky, L. and P. R. DeForest. 1983. Individual characteristics of chemically modified human hairs revealed by scanning electron microscopy. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 28(2): 293-306.

Ding, M. 1998. A morphological study of human hair tips by scanning electronic microscope (SEM). Journal of Forensic Medicine (Fa Yi Xue Za Zie), 14(2): 74-75 & 122-123.

Kisin, M. V. and A. V. Golovin. 1992. Use of the SEM for the investigation of hairs having similar structure. Microscope, 40(4): 259-264.

Wyatt, E. H. and J. M. Riggott. 1977. Scanning electron microscopy of hair. Observations on surface morphology with respect to site, sex, and age in man. British Journal of Dermatology, 96(6): 626-633.

Specialist Microscopy

Greenwell, W. and P. L. Kirk. 1941. Human hair studies III: Refractive index of crown hair. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 31(6): 746-752.



Gurden, S. P., V.F. Monteiro, E. Longo and M. M. Ferreira. 2004. Quantitative analysis and classification of AFM images of human hair. Journal of Microscopy, 215(Pt 1): 13-23.

Kirkbride, K. P. and S. R. Tridico. 2010. The application of laser scanning confocal microscopy to the examination of hairs and textile fibers: an initial investigation. Forensic Science International, 195(1-2): 28-35.

Verma, M. S., L. Pratt, C. Ganesh and C. Medina. 2002. Hair-MAP: a prototype automated system for forensic hair comparison and analysis. Forensic Science International, 129(3): 168-186.

Cross-Sections and Cuticle Patterns

Cook, R. M. and P. L. Kirk. 1953. An Improved Technique for Sectioning Hairs. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 44(1): 124-127.

Dearborn, N. 1939. Sections aid in identifying hair. Journal of Mammalogy, 20: 346-348. Hardy, J. I. 1953. A Practical Laboratory Method of Making Thin Cross-Sections of Fibres, Circular No. 378, United States Department of Agriculture.

Koonz, C. H. and E. J. Strandine. 1945. Rapid and simplified method for revealing the surface structure of hair. Transactions of the American Microscopical Society, 64: 63-64.

Mathiak, H. A. 1938. Rapid method for cross sectioning mammalian hairs. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 2(3): 162-164.

Ogle, R. R. and G. A. Mitosinka. 1973. Rapid technique for preparing hair cuticular scale casts. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 18(1): 82-83.

Petraco, N. 1981. Modified technique for the cross-sectioning of hairs and fibers. Journal of Police Science and Administration, 9(4): 448-450.

Petraco, N. 1986. The replication of hair cuticle scale patterns in Meltmount®. Microscope, 34: 41-45.

Williamson, V. H. H. 1951. Determination of hairs by impression. Journal of Mammalogy, 32(1): 80-84.

Determination of Hair Colour

Birngruber, C., F. Ramsthaler and M. A. Verhoff. 2009. The color(s) of human hair – forensic hair analysis with SpectraCube. Forensic Science International, 185(1-3):e19-23.

Masaki, L., E. M. Brooks, J. Robertson, P. Maynard and C. Roux. 2010. The forensic examination of black, brown, blond and red hairs using digital imaging and colour analysis. Science & Justice, 50(1): 39

Trace Element Analysis

Baptista, G. B., E.C. Montenegro, A.S. Paschoa and C. V. Barros Leite. 1981. Analysis of trace elements in human hair by PIXE. Nuclear Instruments and Methods, 181(1): 263-267.

Bate, L. G. 1966. Adsorption and elution of trace elements on human hair. The International Journal of Applied Radiation and Isotopes, 17(7): 417-423.



Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy

Brenner, L., P.L. Squires, M. Garry and C. S. Tumosa. 1985. A measurement of human hair oxidation by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 13(2): 420-426.

Hopkins, J., L. Brenner and C. S. Tumosa. 1991. Variation of the amide I and amide II peak absorbance ratio in human hair as measured by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. Forensic Science International, 50(1): 61-65.

Strassburger, J. and M. M. Breuer. 1985. Quantitative Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy of oxidized hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 36: 61-74.

Tumosa, C. S. and L. Brenner. 1985. The detection and occurrence of human hair oxidation by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Hair Comparisons, 153-155.

Protein and Enzyme Analysis

Budowle, B. and R. T. Acton. 1981.. A technique for the detection of variable electrophoretic patterns of hair proteins. Electrophoresis, 2(5-6): 333-334.

Burgess, R. M. and J. Twibell. 1979. The typing of human hair sheath cells in the glyoxalase system using cellogel membranes. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 19(4): 283-286.

Lee, L.D., K. Ludwig and H. P. Baden. 1978. Matrix proteins of human hair as a tool for identification of individuals. Forensic Science, 11(2): 115-121.

Marshall, R. C. and J. M. Gillespie. 1982. Comparison of samples of human hair by twodimensional electrophoresis. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 22(4): 377-385.

Miyake, B. and S. Seta. 1990. Hair protein polymorphism and its application to forensic science hair comparison. Forensic Science Review, 2: 25-36.

Twibell, J. and P. H. Whitehead. 1978. Enzyme typing of human hair roots. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 23(2): 356-360.

Wittig, M. 1982. Protein patterns of keratins – The probable role in forensic hair examination. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 22(4): 387-389.

Drug Analysis

Almond, B. 1976. Hair analysis for drugs: Defining ethical questions. Addiction, 89(3): 296-297.

Baumgartner, W. A., V.A. Hill and W. H. Blahd. 1989. Hair analysis for drugs of abuse. Journal of Forensic Science, 34: 1433-1453.

Kalasinsky, K. S., J. Magluilo, and T. Scaefer. 1993. Hair analysis by infrared spectroscopy for drugs of abuse. Forensic Science International, 63(1-3): 253-260.

Moeller, M. 1992. Drug detection in hair by chromatographic procedures. Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications, 580(1-2): 125-134.



Tebbett, I. R. 1999. Drug analysis using hair. In: Forensic Examination of Hair, 2nd edition, 207-228, eds. J. Robertson. London: Taylor & Francis.

Neutron Activation Analysis

Cornelis, R. 1972. Is it possible to identify individuals by neutron activation analysis of hair. Medicine, Science and the Law, 12(3): 188-194.

Cornelis, R. 1973. Neutron activation analysis of hair: Failure of a mission. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15(1): 305-316.

Lyon, W. S., E. Ricci, L.C. Bate and F. F. Dyer. 1973. Reliability in scientific evidence based on multi-trace forensic neutron activation analysis. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15(1): 399-404.

Pillay, K. K. S. and R. L. Kuis. 1978. The potentials and limitations of using neutron activation analysis data on human hair as a forensic evidence. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 43(2): 461-478.

Guinn, V. P. 1973. Recent significant U.S. court cases involving forensic activation analysis. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15(1): 389-398.

Growth and Morphology

General

Barman, J. M., V. Pecoraro and I. Astore. 1964. Method, technic and computations in the study of the trophic state of the human scalp hair. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 42: 421-425.

Harding, H. and G. Rogers. 1999. Physiology and growth of human hair. In: Forensic Examination of Hair, 1-78, ed. J. Robertson. London: Taylor & Francis.

Harkey, M. R. 1993. Anatomy and physiology of hair. Forensic Science International, 63(1): 9-18.

Montagna, W. and E. J. Van Scott. 1958. Biology of Hair Growth, eds. W. Montagna and R. A. Ellis. New York: Academic Press Inc.

Montagna, W. 1976. General review of anatomy, growth, and development of hair in men. In: Biology and Disease of the Hair, xxi – xxxi, ed. K. Toda. Baltimore: University Park Press.

Noback, C. R. 1951. Morphology and phylogeny of hair. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 53: 476-492.

Robbins, C. R. 1985. Morphology and chemistry of human hair. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 3-21. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Robbins, C. R. 2012. Chemical and Physical Behavior of Human Hair, 5th ed. Heidelberg, Dordrecht, London, New York: Springer.



Stenn, K. S. and H. P. Baden. 1991. The Molecular and Structural Biology of Hair. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 642, xi-xiii.

Hair Growth

Barker, D. G. 1976. Factor analysis of body hair distributions. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 44(1): 27-30.

Chase, H. B. 1954. Growth of the hair. Physiological Reviews, 34(1): 113-126.

Chase, H. B. and G. J. Eaton. 1959. The growth of hair follicles in waves. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 83: 365-368.

Chase, H. B. 1965. Cycles and waves of hair growth. In: Biology of the Skin and Hair Growth, 461-465, eds. A.G. Lyne and B. F. Short. Sydney: Angus & Robertson.

Chase, H. B. and A. F. Silver. 1969. Biology of hair growth. In: The Biological Basis of Medicine, Volume 6, 3-19, ed. E. E. Bittar. London: Academic Press.

Ebling, F. J. 1980. The physiology of hair growth. In: Cosmetic Science, Volume 2, 181-232. London: Academic Press.

Garn, S. M. 1951. Types and distribution of the hair in man. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 53: 498-507.

Gerstein, T. 1986. Hair growing innovations. An overview. Cosmetics and Toiletries, 101: 21-

Gangadharan, S., V.V. Lakshmi and M. Sankar Das. 1973. Growth of hair and the trace element profile: a study by sectional analysis. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15(1): 287-304.

Hamilton, J. B. 1951. Quantitative measurement of a secondary sex character, axillary hair. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 53: 585-599.

Hamilton, J. B. 1951. Age, sex, and genetic factors in the regulation of hair growth in man: a comparison of Caucasian and Japanese populations. In: The Biology of Hair Growth, 399-433, eds. W. Montagna and R. A. Ellis. New York: Academic Press.

Kaszynski, E. 1985. Hair growth: Mechanism and regulation. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 23-33. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Kligman, A. M. 1959. The human hair cycle. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 33: 307-316.

Messenger, A. G. 1993. The control of hair growth: An overview. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 101: 4S-9S.

Montagna, W. and K. S. Carlisle. 1981. Considerations on hair research and hair growth. In: Hair Research, 3-11, eds. C. E. Orfano, W. Montagna and G. Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.



Myers, R. J. and J. B. Hamilton. 1951. Regeneration and rate of growth of hairs in men. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 53(3): 562-568.

Oliver, R. F. 1971. The dermal papillae and the development and growth of hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 22: 741-755.

Oliver, R. F. and C. A. B. Jacob. 1989. The dermal papillae and maintenance of hair growth. In: The Biology of Wool and Hair, 51-67, eds. G.E. Rogers, P. J. Reis, K. A. Ward and R. C. Marshall. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ono, M. and T. Abe. 1963. Studies on the hair growth of beard and scalp hair. I. Influencing factors on the rhythms of hair growth. Journal of the Physiological Society of Japan, 25: 254-261.

Ono, M., Yamashita, F. M. Ogino. 1968. Studies on the hair growth of beard and scalp hair. II. On the diurnal variation of the rate of beard growth. Journal of the Physiological Society of Japan, 30(10): 784-789.

Pecoraro, V., I. Astore and J. M. Barman. 1971. Growth rate and hair density of the human axilla. A comparative study of normal males and females and pregnant and post-partum females. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 56(5): 362-365.

Randall, V. A. and F. J. G. Ebling. 1991. Seasonal changes in human hair growth. British Journal of Dermatology, 124(2): 146-151.

Reynolds, E. L. 1951. The appearance of adult patterns of body hair in man. Annals of the New York Academy of Science, 53(3): 576-584.

Saitoh, M., M. Uzuka, M. Sakamoto and T. Kobori. 1969. Rate of hair growth. In: Advances in Biology of the Skin - Hair Growth, 9: 183-201, eds. W. Montagna and R. L. Dobson. New York: Pergamon Press.

Saitoh, M., M. Uzuka and M. Sakamoto. 1970. Human hair cycle. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 54(1): 65-81.

Trotter, M. 1928. Hair growth and shaving. The Anatomical Record, 37(4): 373-379.

Hormonal Effects on Hair Growth

Ebling, F. J. 1981. Hormonal control of hair growth. In: Hair Research, 195-204, eds. C. E. Orfano, W. Montagna and G. Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

Ebling, F. J. G., P.A. Hale and V. A. Randall. 1991. Hormones and hair growth. In: Physiology, Biochemistry, and Molecular Biology of the Skin, 2nd ed., Volume 2, 660-696, ed. L. A. Goldsmith. New York: Oxford University Press.

Growth Disorders and Effects of Nutrition

Comaish, J. S. 1981. Hair growth in disorders of metabolism. In: Hair Research, 267-273, eds. C. E. Orfano, W. Montagna and G. Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

Desai, S. C., R.A. Sheth and P. M. Udani. 1981. Nutrition and hair anomalies. In: Hair



Research, 257-266, eds. C. E. Orfano, W. Montagna and G. Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

Ferriman, D. G. 1971. Human Hair Growth in Health and Disease. Illinois: Thomas CC Springfield.

Hair Loss

Astore, I. P. L., V. Pecoraro and E. G. Pecoraro. 1979. The normal trichogram of pubic hair. British Journal of Dermatology, 101(4): 441-444.

Barman, J. M., I. Astore and V. Pecoraro. 1965. The normal trichogram of the adult. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 44: 233-236.

Barman, J. M., I. Astore and V. Pecoraro. 1965. The normal trichogram of people over fifty but apparently not bald. In: Advances in Biology of the Skin – Hair Growth, 9: 211-220, eds. W. Montagna and R. L. Dobson. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Hamilton, J. B. 1951. Patterned hair loss in man: types and incidences. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 53: 708-728.

Jackson, D., R.E. Church and F. Ebling. 1972. Hair diameter in female baldness. British Journal of Dermatology, 87(4): 361-367.

Pecoraro, V., J.M. Barman and I. Astore. 1969. The normal trichogram of pregnant women. In: Advances in Biology of the Skin - Hair Growth, 9. 203-210, eds. W. Montagna and R. L. Dobson. London: Pergamon Press.

Morphology & Hair Characteristics

Gamble, J. H. and P. L. Kirk. 1940. Human hair studies. II. Scale counts. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 31(5): 627-636.

Kassenbeck, P. 1981. Morphology and fine structure of hair. In: Hair Research, pp. 52-64, eds. C. E. Orfano, W. Montagna and G. Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

King, L. A. 1982. The morphology and occurrence of human hair sheath cells. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 22(3): 267-270.

Kirk, P. L. and L. H. Gamble. 1942. Further Investigation of the Scale Count of Human Hair. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 33(3): 276-280.

Matoltsy, A. G. 1953. Study of the medullary cells of the hairs. Experimental Cell Research, 5: 98- 109.

Petraco, N., C. Fraas, F.X. Callery and P. R. DeForest. 1988. The morphology and evidential significance of human hair roots. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 33(1): 68-76.

Wynkoop, E. M. 1929. Study of the age correlation of the cuticle scales, medullas, and shaft diameters of human dead hair. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 13: 177-188.



Pigmentation & Hair Colour

Fitzpatrick, T.B., P. Brunet and A. Kukita. 1958. Nature of hair pigment. In: The Biology of Hair Growth, 255-303, eds. W. Montagna and R. A. Ellis. New York: Academic Press.

Nordland, J.J., A.J. Sober and T.W. Hansen. 1985. Periodic synopsis on pigmentation. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 12(2, Pt 1): 359-363.

Ortonne, J.P. and J. Thivolet. 1981. Hair melanin and hair colour. In: Hair Research, 146-162, eds. C. E. Orfano, W. Montagna and G. Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

Ortonne, J.P. and G.Prota. 1993. Hair melanins and hair color: ultrastructural and biochemical aspects. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 101: 82S-89S.

Morphological Changes with Aging

Bogaty, H. 1969. Differences between adult and children's hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 20: 159-171.

Duggins, O. H. 1950. Age changes in head hair from birth to maturity. IV. Refractive indices and birefringence of the cuticle of hair of children. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 12(1): 89-114.

Duggins, O. H. and M.Trotter. 1950. Age changes in head hair from birth to maturity. II. Medullation in hair of children. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 8(3): 399-415.

Duggins, O. H. and M.Trotter. 1951. Changes in morphology of hair during childhood. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 53(3): 569-575.

Ellis, R. A. 1958. Aging of the human male scalp. In: The Biology of Hair Growth, 469-486, eds. W. Montagna and R. A. Ellis. New York: Academic Press. .

Keogh, E. V. and R. J. Walsh. 1965. Rate of greying of human hair. Nature, 207: 877-878.

Longia, H. S. 1966. Increase in medullary index of human hair with the passage of time. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 57(2): 221-222.

Luell, E. and V. E. Archer. 1964. Hair medulla variation with age in human males. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 22: 107-109.

Lynfield, Y. L. and P. MacWilliams. 1970. Shaving and hair growth. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 55(3): 170-172.

Marshall, W. A. and J. M. Tanner. 1969. Variations in pattern of pubertal changes in girls. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 44(235): 291-303.

Marshall, W. A. and J. M. Tanner. 1970. Variations in pattern of pubertal changes in boys. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 45(239): 13-23.

Pelfini, C., D. Cerimele and G. Pisanu. 1969. Aging of the skin and hair growth in men. In: Advances in Biology of the Skin - Hair Growth, 153-160, eds. W. Montagna and R. L. Dobson. New York: Pergamon Press.



Takada, K., K. Sugiyama, I. Yamamoto, K. Oba, and T. Takeuchi. 1992. Presence of amelanotic melanocytes within the outer root sheath in senile white hair. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 99: 629-633.

Trotter, M. and O. H. Duggins. 1948. Age changes in head hair from birth to maturity. I. Index and size in hair of children, American Journal of Physical Anthropology. 6(4):489-506.

Trotter, M. and O. H. Duggins. 1950. Age changes in head hair from birth to maturity. III. Cuticular scale counts of hair in children. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 8(4): 467-484.

Changes in Hair after Death

Koch, S., A.L. Michaud and C. E. Mikell. 2013. Taphonomy of Hair: Study of Postmortem Root Banding. Journal of Sciences, 58(S1): 52-59.

Krefft, S. 1969. Post-death structure and colour changes of the hair and other keratin rich structures. Archiv für Kriminologie, 143: 76-81.

Linch, C. A. and J. A. Prahlow. 2001. Postmortem microscopic changes observed at the human head hair proximal end. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 46(1): 15-20.

Tafaro, J. T. 2000. The use of microscopic postmortem changes in anagen hair roots to associate questioned hairs with known hairs and reconstruct events in two murder cases. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 45(2): 495-499.

Animal Hair Identification

General

Appleyard, H. M. 1978. Guide to the Identification of Animal Fibres, 2nd ed. Lees (UK): Wool Industries Research Association.

Brunner, H. and B. J. Coman. 1974. Identification of Mammalian Hair. Melbourne: Inkata.

Kind, S. S. 1965. Metrical characters in the identification of animal hairs. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 5(2): 110-111.

Rosen, S. I. 1974. Identification of primate hair. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 19(1): 109-112.

Sato, I.S., Nakaki, K. Mrata, H. Takeshita and T. Mukai. 2010. Forensic hair analysis to identify animal species on a case of pet animal abuse. International Journal of Legal Medicine, 124(3): 249-256.

Suzanski, T. W. 1988. Dog hair comparison: A preliminary study. Journal of the Canadian Society of Forensic Science, 21(1-2): 19-28.

Suzanski, T. W. 1989. Dog hair comparisons: Purebreds, mixed breeds, and multiple questioned hairs. Canadian Society of Forensic Science Journal, 22: 299-309.

Wildman, A. B. 1961. The identification of animal fibres. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 1(2): 115-119.



Wildman, A. B. 1954. The Microscopy of Animal Textile Fibres: Including Methods for the Complete Analysis of Fibre Blends. Leeds (UK): Wool Industries Research Association.

Microscopical Techniques in Identification

Brown, F. M. 1942. The microscopy of mammalian hair for anthropologists. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, 85(3): 250-274.

Clement, J. L., R. Hagege, A. Le Pareux, J. Connet and G. Gastaldi. 1981. New concepts about hair identification revealed by electron microscope studies. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 26(3): 447-458.

Deedrick, D. W. and S. L. Koch. 2004. Microscopy of Hair Part II: A Practical Guide and Manual for Animal Hairs. Forensic Sciences Communications, 6(3).

Glaister, J. 1931. Study of Hairs and Wools Belonging to the Mammalian Group of Animals Including a Special Study of Human Hair, Considered from Medico-Legal Aspects. Cairo: MISR Press.

Petraco, N. 1987. A microscopical method to aid in the identification of animal hair. Microscope, 35: 83-91.

Morphology & Hair Characteristics

Fraser, R. D. B. and G. E. Rogers. 1955. The bilateral structure of wool cortex and its relation to crimp. Australian Journal of Biological Sciences, 8(2): 288-299.

Gjesdal, F. 1959. Investigations of the melanin granules with special consideration of the hair pigment. Acta Pathologica et microbiologica Scandinavica, Supplementum, 133: 1-112.

Hardy, J. D. and T. M. Plitt. 1940. Improved Method for Revealing the Surface Structure of Fur Fibers. U.S. Department of Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Wildlife Circular #7.

Hausman, L. A. 1932. Cortical fusi in mammalian hair shafts. American Naturalist, 66: 461-470.

Hausman, L. A. 1924. Further studies in the relationships of the structural characteristics of mammalian hair. American Naturalist, 58:544-557.

Hausman, L. A. 1920. Structural characteristics of the hair of mammals. American Naturalist, 54: 496-523.

Meyer, W., H. Seger, G. Hülmann and K. Neurand. 1997. Species determination of mammals based on the hair cuticle pattern – a comparison of domestic mammals and their wild ancestors from the forensic viewpoint. Archiv für Kriminologie, 200(1-2): 45-55. [in German]

Sato, H., M. Yoshino and S. Seta. 1980. Macroscopical and Microscopical Studies of Mammalian Hairs with Special Reference to the Morphological Differences. Report of National Research Institute of Police Science, 33: 1-15.

Discrimination Between Cat & Dog Hairs

Cage, P. E. and I. W. Evett. 1981. A computer method to assist discrimination between dog and cat hairs. Home Office Central Research Establishment (HOCRE), Report #401.



Peabody, A. J., P.E. Oxborough,, P.E. Cage and I. W. Evett. 1983. The discrimination of cat and dog hairs. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 23(2): 121-129.

Region-Specific Species Identification

Adorjan, A. S. and G.B. Kolenosky. 1969. A manual for the Identification of hairs of selected Ontario mammals, Research Report #90. Ontario Department of Lands and Forests, Research Branch.

Dry, F. W. 1926. The coat of the mouse (Mus musculus). Journal of Genetics, 16(3): 287-340.

Hausman, L. A. 1934. On the structure of the hair of the Sei whale (Balaenoptera borealis). American Naturalist, 68: 84-88.

Mathiak, H. A. 1938. Key to hair of the mammals of southern Michigan. Journal of Wildlife Management, 2: 251-268.

Mayer, W. V. 1952. The hair of California mammals with keys to the dorsal guard hairs of California mammals. American Midland Naturalist, 48: 480-512.

Moore, T. D., L.E. Spence and C. E. Dugnolle. 1974. Identification of the Dorsal Guard Hairs of Some Mammals of Wyoming. Wyoming Game and Fish Department, Bulletin #14.

Sahajpal, V., S.P. Goyal, R. Jayapal, K. Yoganand and M. K. Thakar. 2008. Hair characteristics of four Indian bear species. Science & Justice, 48(1): 8-15.

Sahajpal, V., S.P. Goyal, M.K. Thakar and R. Jayapal. 2009. Microscopic hair characteristics of a few bovid species listed under Schedule-I of Wildlife (Protection) Act 1972 of India. Forensic Science International, 189(1-3): 34-45.

Spiers, J. K. 1973. A microscopic key to the hairs of Virginia land mammals. M.S. Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.

Stains, H. F. 1958. Field key to guard hair of Middle Western furbearers. Journal of Wildlife Management, 22(1): 95-97.

Wallis, R. L. 1993. A key for the identification of guard hairs of some Ontario mammals. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 71(3): 587-591.

Yates, B. C., E.O. Espinoza and B. W. Baker. 2010. Forensic species identification of elephant (Elephantidae) and giraffe (Giraffidae) tail hair using light microscopy. Forensic Science, Medicine and Pathology, 6(3): 165-171.

General Fur-Related

Ashbrook, F. G. 1954. Furs glamorous and practical: fur buying mystery removed. Van Nostrand.

Bachrach, M. 1953. Fur: A Practical Treatise. New York: Prentice-Hall.

Bachrach, M. 1939. Selling Furs Successfully. Sir Isaac Pitman & Sons.



Human Hair Examination

General

Barsegiants, L. O. and E. V. Bol'shakova. 2002. A method for group identification of hair. Forensic Medical Expertise (Sudebno-mesitsinskaia ekspertiza), 45(3): 17-18.

Bell, J. and C. Whewell. 1963. Structure and properties of hair and related materials. In: Handbook of Cosmetic Science, ed. H. W. Hibbott. New York: Macmillan.

Bisbing, R. E. 2002. Forensic identification and association of human hair. In: Forensic Science Handbook, Vol. 1, 2nd ed., 390-428. ed. R. Saferstein, Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Bisbing, R. E. 1985. Human hair in a forensic perspective. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 35-44. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Clement, J. L. 1985. Physical properties and individualization of human head hairs (A Review). In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 159-160. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Deadman, H. A. 1985. Human hair comparison based on microscopic characteristics. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 45-50. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Deedrick, D. W. and S. L. Koch. 2004. Microscopy of Hair Part I: A Practical Guide and Manual for Human Hairs, Forensic Science Communications 6(1).

Glaister, J. 1931. Study of Hairs and Wools Belonging to the Mammalian Group of Animals Including a Special Study of Human Hair, Considered from Medico-Legal Aspects. Cairo: MISR Press.

Hausman, L. A. 1930. Recent studies of hair structure relationships. The Scientific Monthly, 30(3): 258- 277.

Martin, E. 1957. Further information on hair as a means of identification. International Criminal Police Review, 303-305.

Niyogi, S. K. 1962. A study of human hairs in forensic work. A review. Journal of Forensic Medicine, 9: 27-41.

Ogle, R. R. 1998. Individualization of human hair: The role of the hair atlas. Microscope, 46(1): 17-22.

Ogle, R. R. and M. J. Fox. 1999. Atlas of Human Hair. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.

Podolak, A. and C. Blythe. 1985. A study of the feasibility of establishing a computer bank of hair characteristics using standard descriptive criteria. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 149. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.



Price, M. L. and W. A. D. Griffiths. 1985. Normal body hair – a review. Clinical and Experimental Dermatology, 10(2): 87-97.

Robbins, C. R. and R. Crawford. 1984. A method to evaluate body hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 35: 369-377.

Sims, R. T. and H. H. F. Knollmeyer. 1970. Multivariate normal frequency distributions for the analysis of the scalp hair measurements. British Journal of Dermatology, 83(1): 200-207.

Strauss, M. A. T. 1983. Forensic characterization of human hair. I. Microscope. 31: 15-29.

Szabó. G. 1958. The regional frequency and distribution of hair follicles in human skin. In: The Biology of Hair Growth, 33-38, eds. W. Montagna and R. A. Ellis. New York: Academic Press.

Szabó. G. 1965. Current state of pigment research with special reference to macromolecular aspects. In: Biology of the Skin and Hair Growth, 705-726, eds. A.G. Lyne and B. F. Short. New York: American Elsevier Publishing Company, Inc..

Tolgyesi, E., D.W. Coble, S. Fang and E. O. Kairinen. 1983. A comparative study of beard and scalp hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 34: 361-382.

Wilson, J. T. 1985. Microscopic identification of human hair shaft anomalies. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 169-172. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Hair Shape, Texture & Cross-Sections

Bailey, J. and S. A. Schliebe. 1985. Precision of the average curvature measurement in human head hairs. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 147-148. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Choudhry, M. Y., C.R. Kingston, L. Kobilinsky and P. R. De Forest. 1983. Individual characteristics of chemically modified human hairs revealed by scanning electron microscopy. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 28(2): 293-306.

De la Mettrie, R., D. Saint-Léger, G. Loussouarn, A. Garcel, C. Porter and A. Langaney. 2007. Shape variability and classification of human hair: a worldwide approach. Human Biology, 79(3): 265-281.

Vernall, D. G. 1961. Study of the size and shape of cross sections of hair from four races of man. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 19(4): 345-350.

Hair Surface & Cuticle

Beeman, J. 1942. Scale count of human hair. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 32(3): 572- 574.

Beeman, J. 1943. Further evaluation of the scale count of human hair. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 33(5): 422-424.

Bottoms, E., E. Wyatt, and S. Comaish. 1972. Progressive changes in cuticular pattern along the shafts of human hair seen by scanning electron microscopy. British Journal of Dermatology, 86(4): 379-384.



Brüschweiler, W. K. 1985. Forensic value of the cuticle of human hair. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 173-174. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Garcia, M. L., J.A. Epps and R. S. Yare. 1978. Normal cuticle-wear patterns in human hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 29: 155-175.

Kirk, P. L. and L. H. Gamble. 1942. Further investigation of the scale count of human hair. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 33: 276-280.

Swift, A. J. and A. C. Brown. 1972. The critical determination of fine changes in the surface architecture of human hair due to cosmetic treatment. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 23: 695-702.

Swift, A. J. 1981. The hair surface. In: Hair Research, 65-72, eds. C. E. Orfano, W. Montagna and G. Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

Wolfram, L. J. and M. K. O. Lindemann. 1971. Some observations on the hair cuticle. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists. 22: 839-850.

Wyatt, E. H. and J. M. Riggott. 1977. Scanning electron microscopy of hair. Observations on surface morphology with respect to site, sex, and age in man. British Journal of Dermatology, 96(6): 626-633.

Wynkoop, E. M. 1929. Study of the age correlation of the cuticle scales, medullas, and shaft diameters of human dead hair. American Journal of Physical Anthropology. 13: 177-188.

Medulla Structure

Chowdhuri, S. and B. Bhattacharyya. 1964. Paired medulla in human hair. Current Science, 33(24): 748-749.

Clement, J. L., A. Le Pareux and P. F. Ceccaldi. 1982. The specificity of the ultrastructure of the human hair medulla. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 22(4): 396-398.

Rowe, W. F. 2002. Unusual medulla morphology in human hair. Microscope, 50(4): 155-158.

<u>Pigmentation & Hair Colour</u>

Abbie, A. A and W. R. Adey. 1953. Pigmentation in a Central Australian tribe with special reference to fair-headedness. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 11(3): 339-359.

Birbeck, M.S.C., E.H. Mercer and N.A. Barnicott. 1956. The structure and formation of pigment granules in human hair. Experimental Cell Research, 10(2): 505-514.

Gjesdal, F. 1959. Investigations of the melanin granules with special consideration of the hair pigment. Acta Pathologica et microbiologica Scandinavica, Supplementum, 133: 1-112.

Griffith, J.W. 1848. On the colour of the hair: Deceptive appearance under the microscope. London Medical Gazette New Series, 7: 844-845.

Hausman, L. A. 1928. Pigment granules of human head hair: A comparative racial study.



American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 12(2): 273-283.

Hausman, L. A. 1927. Pigmentation of human head hair. The American Naturalist, 61(677): 545-554.

Nanawala, S.J. and S.V. Sitpuria. 1989. Examinations of hair pigmentation for the age of person. J. Indian Acad. Forensic Sci., 28: 39-42.

Rock, P. 1977. A study of the distribution of human head hair colour and its forensic implications. B.Sc. Honors Thesis, Trent Polytechnic.

Takada, K., K. Sugiyama, I. Yamamoto, K. Oba and T. Takeuchi. 1992. Presence of amelanotic melanocytes within the outer root sheath in senile white hair. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 99: 629-633.

Trotter, M. 1929. Anthropometry: Classifications of hair color. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 25(2): 237-260.

Vaughn, M. R., R.A. vanOorschot and S. Baindur-Hudson. 2008. Hair color measurement and variation. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 137(1): 91-96.

Vaughn, M. R., R.A. vanOorschot and S. Baindur-Hudson. 2009. A comparison of hair colour measurement by digital image analysis with reflective spectrophotometry. Forensic Science International, 183(1-3): 97-101.

Vaughn, M. R., E. Brooks, R.A. vanOorschot and S. Baindur-Hudson. 2009. A comparison of macroscopic and microscopic hair colour measurements and a quantification of the relationship between hair colour and thickness. Microscopy and Microanalysis, 15(3): 189-193.

Vernall, D. G. 1964. Study of the density of pigment granules in hair from four races of man. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 21(4): 489-496.

Ancestry

Brace, C. L. 1995. Region does not mean 'race' - Reality versus convention in forensic anthropology. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 40(2): 20-33.

Abbie, A. A and W. R. Adey. 1953. Pigmentation in a Central Australian tribe with special reference to fair-headedness. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 11(3): 339-359.

Franbourg, A., P. Hallegot, F. Baltenneck, C. Toutain and F. Leroy. 2003. Current research of ethnic hair. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 48(Suppl. 6): S115-119.

Gaur, R., I. Angrish and S. R. Bansat. 2007. Age, gender, and caste variations in scalp hair micro-morphological variables among Brahmins and Banias of Punjab, India. Anthropological Gazette (Anthropologischer Anzeiger), 65(2): 157-168.

Hausman, L. A. 1925. A comparative racial study of the structural elements of human head hair. The American Naturalist, 59(665): 529-538.

Hayashi, S., T. Okumura and A. Ishida. 1976. A. Preliminary study on racial differences in scalp



hair. In: Biology and Disease of the Hair, 555-561, eds. T. Kobori and W. Monatagna. Tokyo: University of Tokyo Press.

Hrdy, D. 1973. Quantitative hair form variation in seven populations. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 39(1): 7-17.

Hrdy, D. B. 1978. Analysis of hair samples of mummies from Semma South (Sudanese Nuboa). American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 49(2): 277-282.

Kerley, E. R. and S. I. Rosen. 1973. Identification of Polynesian head hair. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 18(4): 351-355.

Khumalo, N. P., P.T. Doe, R.P. Dawber and D. J. Ferguson. 2000. What is normal black African hair? A light and scanning electron-microscopic study. Journal of American Academy of Dermatology, 43(5, Pt 1): 814-820.

Lamb, P. and L.G. Tucker. 1994. Study of the probative value of Afro-Caribbean hair comparisons. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 34(3): 177-179.

Menkart, J., L.J. Wolfram and I. Mao. 1966. Caucasian hair, Negro hair, and wool: similarities and differences. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 17: 769-787.

Pavlov, luV. 2000. Morphological characteristics of head hairs and hairs from other parts of the body in the residents of Africa. Forensic Medical Expertise (Sudebno-meditsinskaia ekspertiza.), 43(6): 18-21.

Pavlov, luV. 2000. Structure of the hair on the head and other parts of the body in Latin Americans. Forensic Medical Examination (Sudebno-meditsinskaia ekspertiza.), 43(3): 20-22.

Pavlov, luV. 2002. Morphological characteristics of head hairs and hairs from other parts of the body in the population of Asia. Forensic Medical Expertise (Sudebno-meditsinskaia ekspertiza), 45(5): 26-28.

Sato, H. 2003. Preliminary study of hair form of Japanese head hairs using image analysis. Forensic Science International, 131(2-3): 202-208.

Sato, H. and S. Seta. 1985. Appraisal of the use of macroscopic and microscopic data in Japanese head hair comparison. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 143. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington.

Steggerda, M. 1940. Cross sections of human hair from four racial groups. Journal of Heredity. 31(11): 474-476.

Steggerda, M. and H. C. Seibert. 1941. Size and shape of head hair from six racial groups. Journal of Heredity. 32(9): 315-318.

Trotter, M. 1930. The form, size, and colour of head hair in American whites. American Journal of Physical Anthropology. 14(3): 434-445.



Trotter, M., O.H. Duggins and F. M. Setzler. 1956. Hair of Australian Aborigines (Arnhem land). American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 14(4): 649-659.

Vernall, D. G. 1964. Study of the density of pigment granules in hair from four races of man. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 21(4): 489-496.

Vernall, D. G. 1961. Study of the size and shape of cross sections of hair from four races of man. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 19(4): 345-350.

Warren, H. M. and A. G. Podlak. 1985. Evaluation of the microscopic characteristics which serve as racial indicators in head hair of children. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 137-138. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Wassermann, H. P. 1974. Ethnic Pigmentation: Historical, Physiological and Clinical Aspects. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica.

<u>Archaeology & Anthropology</u>

Hrdy, D. B. 1978. Analysis of hair samples of mummies from Semma South (Sudanese Nuboa). American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 49(2): 277-282.

Lubec. G., G. Nauer, K. Seifert, E. Strouhal, H. Porteder, J. Svilassy and M. Teschler. 1987. Structural stability of hair over three thousand years. Journal of Archaeological Science, 14(2): 113-120.

Rabino Massa, E., M. Masali and A. M. Conti Fuhrman. 1980. Early Egyptian mummy hairs: Tensile strength tests, optical and scanning electrical microscope observation. A paleobiological research. Journal of Human Evolution., 9(2): 133-137.

Sandford, M. K. and G. E. Kissling. 1993. Chemical analysis of human hair: Anthropological applications. In: Investigations of Ancient Human Tissue: Chemical Analyses in Anthropology, 131-166, ed. M. K. Sandford. Pennsylvania: Gordon & Breach.

Gender Identification

Ishuzu, H. 1972. Sex identification of hairs by Y chromosome. Japanese Journal of Legal Medicine, 26 403-406.

Mudd, J. L. 1984. The determination of sex from forcibly removed hairs. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 29(4): 1072-1080.

Twin Studies

Bisbing, R. E. and M. F. Wolner. 1984. Microscopical discrimination of twins' head hair. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 27(3): 780-786.

Das-Chaudhuri, A. B. 1976. Genetic basis of hair medulla by twin study. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 44(1): 51-53.

Weight & Hair Density

Goin, L. J., W.H. McKee and P. J. Kirk. 1952. Human hair studies: Applications of the microdetermination of comparative density. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 43(2): 263-273.



Iusufov, R. M., B.T. Tagiev, Z.G. Mamedov and G. K. Aslanov. 1990. The investigation of the density of human hair in the forensic medical expert assessment of its similarity. Forensic Medical Expertise (Sudebno-mesitsinskaia ekspertiza), 33: 361-367. [in Russian]

Kiazymov, K. H. M., M.O. Buniatov, Z.M. Mamedov and R. A. Aliev. 2009. Determination of specific weight of the pigmented, grey and thick hairs from head. Georgian Med. News, 169: 78-81. [in Russian]

Imaging

Brooks, E., B. Comber, I.McNaught and J. Robertson. 2011. Digital imaging and image analysis applied to numerical applications in forensic hair examination. Science & Justice, 51(1): 28-37.

Trace Element Content

Coleman, R. F., F.H. Cripps, F. Stimson and H.D. Scott. 1967. The trace element content of human head hair in England and Wales and the application to forensic science. Atom Monthly Information Bulletin of the United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, 123: 12-22.

Gordus, A. 1973. Factors affecting the trace element content of human hair. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15: 229-243.

Goulding, J. 1999. Elemental analysis of hair for forensic applications – a personal journey. In: Forensic Examination of Hair, 175-206, ed. J. Robertson. London: Taylor and Francis.

Nagra, M. S., B.S. Pallah, G.P.S. Sahota, H. Singh and H. S. Sahota. 1992. A study of trace elements in scalp hair and fingernails of industrial workers of Ontario, Canada. Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, 162(2): 283-288.

Obrusnik, I., J. Gislason, D. Maes, D.K. McMillan, J. D'Auria and B. D. Pate. 1973. The variation of trace element concentration in single human head hairs. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15(1): 115-134.

Perkons, A. K. and R. E. Jervis. 1966. Trace elements in human head hair. Journal of Forensic Science, 11: 50-63.

Robertson, J. 1987. Trace elements in human hair – a significant forensic future? TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 6(3): 65-69.

Sky-Peck, H. H. and B. J. Joseph. 1983. The 'use' and 'misuse' of human hair in trace metal analysis. In: Chemical Toxicology and Clinical Chemistry of Metals, 159-163, eds. S. S. Brown and J. Savory. London: Academic Press.

Verghese, G. C., R. Kishore and V. P. Guinn. 1973. Differences in trace element concentrations in hairs between males and females. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15: 329-335.

Wilhelm, M., F.K. Ohnesgorge and D. Hötzel. 1990. Cadmium, copper, lead, and zinc concentrations in human scalp and pubic hair. The Science of the Total Environment, 92: 199-206.



Protein & Enzyme Analysis

Lee, L.D., K. Ludwig and H. P. Baden. 1978. Matrix proteins of human hair as a tool for identification of individuals. Forensic Science, 11(2): 115-121.

Twibell, J. and P. H. Whitehead. 1978. Enzyme typing of human hair roots. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 23(2): 356-360.

Wittig, M. 1982. Protein patterns of keratins – The probable role in forensic hair examination. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 22(4): 387-389.

Interpretation and Evaluation of Human Hair Comparisons

Aitken, C. G. G. and J. Robertson. 1986. The value of microscopic features in the examination of human head hairs: Statistical analysis of questionnaire returns. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 31(2): 546-562.

Bost, R. O. 1993. Hair analysis - Perspectives and limits of a proposed forensic method of proof: A review. Forensic Science International, 63(1-3): 31-42.

Cwiklik, C. 1999. Evaluation of the significance of transfers of debris: Criteria for association and exclusion. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 44(6): 1136-1150.

Evett, I. W. 1990. The theory of interpreting scientific transfer evidence. Forensic Science Progress, 4: 143-179.

Fallon, T. C., I.C. Stone and C. S. Petty. 1985. Hair on the victim's hands: Value of examination. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 145. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Fouweather, C. and J. Porter. 1972. An appraisal of human head hair as forensic evidence. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 26: 299-313.

Gaudette, B. D. 1999. Evidential value of human hair examination. In: Forensic Examination of Hair, 243-260, ed. J. Robertson. London: Taylor and Francis.

Gaudette, B. D. 1986. Evaluation of associative physical evidence. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 26(3): 163-167.

Kirk, P. L. and J.H. Gamble. 1941. Human hair studies: General considerations of hair individualization and its forensic importance. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 31(4): 486-496.

Lanning, K. A., A.L. Michaud, R.E. Bisbing, F.A. Springer and S. R. Tridico. 2009. Scientific working group on materials analysis position on hair evidence. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 54(5): 1198-1202.

Moeller, M. R., P. Fey and H. Sachs. 1993. Hair analysis as evidence in forensic cases. Forensic Science International, 63(1-3): 43-53.



Moreau, D. M. 1987. Major physical evidence in sexual assault investigations. In: Practical Aspects of Rape Investigations, 96-136, eds. R. R. Hazelwood and A. W. Burgess. New York: Elsevier Science.

Page, M., J. Taylor and M. Blenkin. 2011. Forensic identification science evidence since *Daubert:* Part I - A quantitative analysis of the exclusion of forensic identification science evidence. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 56(5):1180–1184.

Page, M., J. Taylor and M. Blenkin. 2011. Forensic identification science evidence since Daubert: Part II – Judicial reasoning in decisions to exclude forensic identification evidence on grounds of reliability. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 56(4): 913-917.

Petraco, N. 1985. Occurrence of trace evidence in one hair examiner's casework. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 30(2): 485-493.

Petraco, N., C. Fraas,, F.X. Callery and P. R. DeForest. 1988. Morphological and evidential significance of human hair roots. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 33(1): 68-76.

Porter, J. and C. Fouweather. 1955. Appraisal of human head hair as forensic evidence. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 26: 299-313.

Promwikorn, W. and T. Kerekoj. 2011. Prediction of Ethnicity: A challenge of Forensic hair Investigation. Forensic Asia, 3: 11-12.

Reynolds, G. W. 1897. A Comparative Study of Hair for the Medico-Legal Expert. Transactions of the American Microscopical Society, 19: 117-128

Robertson, J. 1982. Appraisal of the Use Of Microscopic Data in the Examination of Human Head Hair. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 22(4): 390-395.

Robertson, J. and C. G. G. Aitken. 1986. Value of microscopic features in the examination of human head hairs: analysis of comments contained in questionnaire returns. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 31(2): 563-573.

Starrs, J. 1997. From bad to worse: hair today – scorned tomorrow. Science Sleuthing Review, 21: 11-15.

Stone, I. C. 1982. Hair and its probative value as evidence. Texas Bar Journal, March: 275-279.

Stoney, D. A. 1984. Evaluation of associative evidence: choosing the relevant question. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 24: 473-482.

Taupin, J. M. 1996. Hair and fiber transfer in an abduction case – Evidence from different levels of trace evidence transfer. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 41(4): 697-699.

Forensic Hair Comparisons

Gaudette, B. D. 1985. Future of forensic hair comparison. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 127-136. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.



Gaudette, B. D. 1985. Preliminary report: Committee on forensic hair comparison. Crime Laboratory Digest, 12: 50-59.

Gaudette, B. D. 1985. A collaborative study in forensic hair comparison. Proceedings of the 10th International Association of Forensic Sciences Conference, Oxford, 1984.

Gaudette, B. D. 1985. Forensic hair comparisons. Crime Laboratory Digest, 12: 44-59.

Gaudette, B. D. 1985. Strong negative conclusions in hair comparisons: A rare event. Canadian Society of Forensic Science Journal, 18(1): 32-37.

Harding, H. W. J. and G. E. Rogers. 1984. Forensic hair comparison in South Australia. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 24: 339-340.

Houck, M. M., R.E. Bisbing, T.G. Watkins and R. P. Harmon. 2004. Locard exchange: The science of forensic hair comparisons and the admissibility of hair comparison evidence: Frye and Daubert considered, Modern Microscopy Journal, www.modernmicroscopy.com

Jervis, R. E. 1966. The value of NAA hair comparisons in forensic investigations – a critique. Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Forensic Activation.

Kind, S. S. and G. W. Owens 1977. Assessment of information content gained from the microscopical comparison of hair samples. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 16(3): 235-239.

Lamb, P. and L.G. Tucker. 1994. Study of the probative value of Afro-Caribbean hair comparisons. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 34(3): 177-179.

Presley, L. A. and K. W. Hensley. 1988. A historical review of forensic hair comparisons. FBI Lab Publication, 88-01.

Rowe, W. F. 2001. The current status of microscopical hair comparisons. The Scientific World, 1: 868-878.

Taupin, J. M. 2004. Forensic hair morphology comparison – a dying art or junk science? Science & Justice, 44: 95-100.

Forensic Hair Comparison & DNA Analysis

Houck, M. M. and B. Budowle. 2002. Correlation of microscopic and mitochondrial DNA hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 47(5): 964-967.

Probabilities & Statistics

Aitken, C. G. G. and J. Robertson. 1987. A contribution to the discussion of probabilities and human hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 32(3): 684-689.

Aitken, C. G. G. 1987. The use of statistics in forensic science. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 27(2): 113-115.

Barnett, P. D. and R. R. Ogle. 1982. Probabilities and human hair comparison. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 27(2): 272-282.



Gaudette, B. D. 1987. Use of statistics in forensic science. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 27(2): 117- 118.

Gaudette, B. D. 1976. Probabilities and human pubic hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 21(3): 514-517.

Gaudette, B. D. and E. S. Keeping. 1974. An attempt at determining probabilities in human scalp hair comparison. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 19(3): 599-606.

Gaudette, B. D. 1978. Some further thoughts on probabilities and human hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 23(4): 758-763.

Gaudette, B. D. 1982. A supplementary discussion of probabilities and human hair comparisons. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 27(2): 279-289.

Hoffman, K. 1991. Statistical evaluation of the evidential value of human hairs possibly coming from multiple sources. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 36(4): 1053-1058.

Ogle, R. R. 1991. Discussion of 'Further evaluation of the probabilities in human scalp hair comparison'. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 36(4): 971-976.

Smalldon, K. W. and A. C. Moffat. 1973. The Calculation of Discriminating Power for a Series of Correlated Attributes. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 13(4): 291-295.

Wickenheiser, R. A. and D.G. Hepworth. 1990. Further evaluation of probabilities in human scalp hair comparisons, Journal of Forensic Sciences. 35(6): 1323-1329.

Human Bias & Error

Dror, I. E. and D. Charlton. 2006. Why Experts Make Errors. Journal of Forensic Identification, 56(4): 600-616.

Dror, I. E., Charlton, D. and A. E. Peron. 2006. Contextual information renders experts vulnerable to making erroneous identifications. Forensic Science international, 156(1): 74-78.

Kassin, S. M., I.E. Dror and J. Kukucka. 2013. The forensic confirmation bias: Problems, perspectives, and proposed solutions. Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition, 2(1): 42-52.

Lalonde, S. A. 1988. Discussion of 'An attempt at determining probabilities in human scalp hair comparison'. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 33(4): 884-885.

McQuiston-Surrett, D. and M. J. Saks. 2009. The testimony of forensic identification science: what expert witnesses say and what fact finders hear. Law and Human Behavior, 33(5): 436-453.

Miller. L. 1987. Procedural Bias in Forensic Science Examinations of Human Hair. Law and Human Behavior, 11(2): 157-163.

Smith, S. L. and C. A. Linch. 1999. A review of major factors contributing to errors in human hair association by microscopy. American Journal of Forensic Medicine and Pathology, 20(3): 269-273.



Verma, M. S. 1985. Syntax-directed concept analysis in the reasoning foundations of human hair comparisons. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium of Forensic Hairs Comparisons, 151-152. Federal Bureau of Investigation, US Department of Justice, Quantico, VA.

Transfer and Persistence

Cook, R., M.Y. Webb-Salter and L. Marshall. 1997. The significance of fibres found in head hair. Forensic Science International, 87: 155-160.

Dachs, J., I.J. McNaught and J. Robertson. 2003. Forensic Science International, 138(1-3): 27-36.

Exline, D. L., F.P. Smith and S. G. Drexler. 1998. Frequency of pubic hair transfer during sexual intercourse. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 43(3): 505-508.

Gaudette, B. D. and A. A. Tessarolo. 1987. Secondary transfer of human scalp hair. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 32: 1241-1253.

Keating, S. M. 1982. The cross-transference of pubic hairs during sexual intercourse. Metropolitan Police Forensic Science Laboratory (MPFSL), Report #23.

Mann, M. J. 1990. Hair transfers in sexual assault: A six-year case study. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 35: 951-955.

Palmer, R. and S. Oliver. The population of coloured fibres in human head hair. Science & Justice, 44: 83-88.

Palmer, R. and M. Banks. The secondary transfer of fibres from head hair. Science & Justice, 45: 123-128.

Peabody, A. J., K. Thomas and R. Stockdale. 1985. On the nature of human head hairs shed on to various types of headgear. In: Proceedings of the 10th International Association of Forensic Sciences Conference, Oxford, 1984. J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 24:383-384.

Quill, J. L. 1985. Transfer theory of hairs applied to the normal work day. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 141-142. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Robertson, J. and H. Somerset. 1987. Persistence of hair on clothing. Canadian Society of Forensic Science Journal, 20: 240.

Simons, A. A. 1986. Hair evidence on laundered items. Crime Laboratory Digest, 13(3): 78-81.

DNA Analysis of Hairs

Boonen, T., K.Vits, B. Hoste and F. Hubrecht. 2008. The visualization and quantification of cell nuclei in telogen hair roots by fluorescence microscopy, as a pre-DNA analysis assessment. Forensic Science International: Genetics, Supplement Series, 1(1): 16-18.

Bourguignon, L., B. Hoste, T. Boonen, K. Vits and F. Hubrecht. 2008. A fluorescent microscopy



screening test for efficient STR-typing of telogen hair roots. Forensic Science International: Genetics, 3(1): 27-31.

Brooks, E. 2010. Nuclear staining of telogen hair roots contributes to successful forensic nDNA analysis. Australian Journal of Forensic Sciences, 42(2): 115-122.

DiZinno, J. A., M.R. Wilson and B. Budowle. 1999. Typing of DNA derived from hairs. In: Forensic Examination of Hair, 155-173, ed. J. Robertson. London: Taylor and Francis.

Hellman, A., U. Rohleder, H. Schmitter and M. Wittig. 2001. STR typing of human telogen hairs: a new approach. International Journal of Legal Medicine, 114: 269-273.

Higuchi, R., C.H. Von Beroldingen, G.F. Sensabaugh and H. A. Erlich. 1988. DNA typing from single hairs. Nature, 332: 543-546.

Ishuzu, H. 1972. Sex identification of hairs by Y chromosome. Japanese Journal of Legal Medicine, 26 403-406.

Linch, C. A., S.L. Smith and J. A. Prahlow. 1998. Evaluation of the human hair root for DNA typing subsequent to microscopic comparison. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 43(2): 305-314.

Linch, C. A., D.A. Whiting and M. M. Holland. 2001. Human hair histogenesis for the mitochondrial DNA forensic scientist. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 46(4): 844-853.

Mudd, J. L. 1984. The determination of sex from forcibly removed hairs. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 29(4): 1072-1080.

Mukherjee, A. B., G.C. Moser and H. M. Nitowsky. 1972. Fluorescence of X and Y chromatin in human interphase cells. Cytogenetics, 11: 216-227.

Nagamori, H. 1978. Sex determination from plucked human hairs without epithelial root sheath. Forensic Science International, 12: 167-173.

Nagamori, H., Y. Ohno, E. Uchima, M. Kajiwara, M. Nakazato, Y. Une and K. Taleda. 1986. Sex determination from buccal mucosa and hair root by combined treatment of quinacrine staining and the fluorescent Feulgen reaction using a single specimen. Forensic Science International, 31(2): 119-128.

Petraco, N., C. Fraas, F.X. Callery and P. R. DeForest. 1988. The morphology and evidential significance of human hair roots. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 33: 68-76.

Platt, S. and R. Morrison. 1979. A preliminary report: The detection of Y chromosomes by fluorescence microscopy. Southern Association of Forensic Science, Fall Meeting.

Schmid, W. 1967. Sex chromatin in hair roots. Cytogenetics, 6(5): 342-349.

Thornton, J. I. 1977. Genetic basis of human hair medullation. Human Heredity, 27(5): 381-382.



Von Beroldingen, C. H., R.K. Roby, G.F. Sensabaugh and S. Walsh. 1989. DNA in hair. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on the Forensic Aspects of DNA Analysis. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, pp. 265-266.

Hair Damage and Disease

General

Dawber, R. and D. Van Neste. 1995. Hair and Scalp Disorders. In: Common Presenting Signs, Differential Diagnosis and Treatment. London: Martin Dunitz.

Brown, A. C. 1971. Congenital hair defects. Birth Defects, Original Article Series, 7: 52-68.

Robinson, V. N. E. 1976. Study of damaged hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 27: 155-161.

Rook, A. and R. Dawber. 1982. Diseases of the Hair and Scalp. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific **Publications**

Powell, J., N. Stone and R. P. R. Dawber. 2002. Atlas of Hair and Scalp Diseases. New York, Parthenon Publishing Group.

Niyogi, S. K. 1968. Abnormality of hair shaft due to disease: Its forensic importance. Journal of Forensic Medicine, 15: 148-150.

Pinkus, H. 1981. Alterations to the hair follicle in hair disease. In: Hair Research, 237-243, eds. C. E. Orfanos, W. Montagna and G Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag.

Prasad, A. N. 1974. Abnormality of hair due to diseases, etc. as an aid to identification: A review. International Criminal Police Review, 275: 37-45.

Price, V. H. 1990. Structural abnormalities of the hair shaft. In: Hair and Hair Diseases, 363-422, eds. C. E. Orfanos and R. Happle. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag.

Sato, H., S. Miyasaka, M. Yoshino and S. Seta. 1984. Fine structural comparison of healthy and diseased hairs by scanning and transmission electron microscopy. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 24(4): 338-339.

<u>Malnutrition</u>

Bradfield, R. B. 1981. Effect of undernutrition on hair growth. In: Hair Research, 251-256, eds. C. E. Orfanos, W. Montagna and G Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag.

Sims, R. T. 1970. Hair as an indicator of incipient and developed malnutrition and response to theory – principles and practice. In: An Introduction to the Biology of the Skin, 387-407, eds. R. H. Champion, A. J. Rook and T. Gillman. Oxford, UK: Blackwell.

Congenital Disorders & Diseases

Brown, A. C., R.B. Belser, R.G. Crounse and R. F. Wehr. 1970. Congenital hair defect: Trichoschisis with alternating birefringence and low sulfur content. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 504: 496-509.



Howell, R. R., W.R. Collie. O.I. Cavasos, A.I. Arbisser, V. Fraustadt, S.N. Marcks and D. Parsons. 1980. The sabinas brittle hair syndrome. In: Hair, Trace Elements, and Human Illness, 210-219, eds. A. C. Brown and R. G. Crounse, R. G. New York: Praeger Publishing.

Jones, L. N. and D. E. Rivett. 1996. A structural defect in the fibre cuticle of hair resulting from a deficiency in the enzyme branched chain 2-oxo-acid dehydrogenase. In: Hair Research for the Next Millennium, 35-38, eds. D. J. J. van Neste and V. A. Randall. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Jones, L. N., D.J. Peet, D.M. Danks, A.P. Negri and D. E. Rivett. 1996. Hairs from patients with maple syrup urine disease show a structural defect in the fiber cuticle. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 106(3): 461-464.

Price, V. H., R.B. Odom, F.T. Jones and W. H. Ward. 1980. Trichothiodystrophy: Sulfur-deficient brittle hair. In: Hair, Trace Elements, and Human Illness, 220-227., eds. A. C. Brown and R. G. Crounse. New York: Praeger.

Natural Biodegradation

Wilson, A. S., H.I. Dodson, R.C. Janaway, A.M. Pollard and D. J. Tobin. 2007. Selective biodegradation in hair shafts derived from archaeological, forensic and experimental contexts. British Journal of Dermatology, 157(3): 450-457.

Mechanical Damage

Abduline, E.V. and A.E. Mal'tsev. 2007. Evaluation of hair injuries depending on properties of impact surface of a blunt object and impact conditions. Forensic Medical Expertise (Sudebnomesitsinskaia ekspertiza), 50: 9-11.

Hartnett, K. M., L.C. Fulginiti and F. Di Modica. 2011. The effects of corrosive substances on human bone, teeth, hair, nails and soft tissue. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 56(4): 954-959.

Thermal Damage

Apple, O. and I. Kollo. 2010. The evidential value of singed hairs in arson cases. Science & Justice, 50: 138-140.

Ayres, L. M. 1985. Misleading colour changes in hair that has been heated but not exposed to flame. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 187. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Insect Infestation & Bacterial / Viral Damage

Bol'shakova, E. V. 2002. Morphological study of human hair infected with Microsporum canis. Forensic Medical Expertise (Sudebno-mesitsinskaia ekspertiza), 45(3): 18-19.

Desch, C. E. 1009. Human hair follicle mites and forensic acarology. Exp. Appl. Acarol., 49: 143-146.

Marko, N. F. and W. F. Rowe. 2001. Effect of humidity on the degradation of isolated human hair by keratinolytic and nonkeratinolytic fungi. Microscope, 49: 223-230.

Metals, Trace Elements, Poisoning & Toxicity

Al-Shahristani, M. and I. K. Al-Haddad. 1973. Hg content of hair from normal and poisoned persons. Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 15(1): 59-70.



Chattopadhyay, A., J.R. Roberts and R. E. Jervis. 1977. Scalp hair as a monitor of community exposure to lead. Archives of Environmental Health, 32: 226-236.

Metter, D. and R. Vock. 1984. Studies of hair structure in thallium poisoning. Rechtsmedizin, 91: 201-214.

Muller, S. A. 1980. Trichotillomania. In: Hair, Trace Elements, and Human Illness, 305-312, eds. A. Brown and R. G. Crounse. New York: Praeger Publishers.

Colourants, Cosmetics and Hair Treatments

Andrasko, J. 1984. Calcium profiles in permanent waved hair and its application to forensic science. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 24: 327 -Proceedings of the 10th Meeting of the International Association of Forensic Sciences Conference, Oxford (1984).

Barrett, J. A., J.A. Siegel and J. V. Goodpaster. 2010. Forensic discrimination of dyed hair color: I. UV-visible microspectrophotometry. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 55(2): 323-333.

Barrett, J. A., J.A. Siegel and J. V. Goodpaster. 2011. Forensic discrimination of dyed hair color: II. Multivariate statistical analysis. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 56(1): 95-101.

Choudhry, M. Y., C.R. Kingston, L. Kobilinsky and P. R. DeForest. 1983. Individual characteristics of chemically modified human hairs revealed by scanning electron microscopy. Journal of Forensic Sciences, 28(2): 293-306.

Han, S. K., Y.K. Kamath and H. D. Weigmann. 1985. Diffusion of semi-permanent dyestuffs in human hair. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 36: 1-16.

Nelson, D. and P. DeForest. 1999. Forensic examination of hairs for cosmetic treatment. In: Forensic Examination of Hair, 229-242.

Price, V. H. 1981. The role of hair-care products. In: Hair Research, 501-506, eds. C. E. Orfanos, W. Montagna and G Stüttgen. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag.

Roe, G. M. 1980. The detection of cosmetic treatments on hair. Cosmetics and Toiletries, 95: 40-44

Roe, G. M., W. McArdle and K. Pole. 1985. Detection of cosmetic treatments on human scalp hair: Screening of forensic casework samples. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Forensic Hair Comparisons, 63-69. Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Swift, A. J. and A. C. Brown. 1972. The critical determination of fine changes in the surface architecture of human hair due to cosmetic treatment. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 23: 695-702.

Tucker, H. 1971. The coloring of human hair with semi-permanent dyes. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 22: 379-398.



Yan, P. H., T.Z. Que and Z. M. Zhao. 2001. Effects of perming, combing, and stretching on hair keratins. Journal of Forensic Medicine (Fa Yi Xue Za Xhi), XIII: 209-211.

Case-Specific References

Deadman, H. A. 1984. Fiber evidence and the Wayne Williams trial, Part 1. FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin, 53(3): 12-20.

Deadman, H. A. 1984. Fiber evidence and the Wayne Williams trial (Conclusion). FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin, 53(5): 10-19.

Royal Commission of Inquiry in Respect to the Case of Edward Charles Splatt (S. A.). and C. R. Shannon. 1984. Royal Commission Report concerning the conviction of Edward Charles Splatt. Adelaide, Australia: Government Printer

Taupin, J. M. 1996. Hair and fiber transfer in an abduction case – evidence from different levels of trace evidence transfer. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 41(4): 697-699.

Vintiner, S. K., P. Stringer and S. Kanagasundaram. 1992. Alleged sexual violation of a human female by a Rottweiler dog. Journal of the Forensic Science Society, 32(4): 357-362.





Best Practice Manual for the Microscopic Examination and Comparison of Human and Animal Hair ENFSI-BPM-THG-03

Version 01 - November 2015